Vision

In 2018, 1 st National Bank St. Lucia Limited is the first choice
financial services provider, ranking in the top three in profitability in
the OECS; and an outstanding corporate citizen with empowered
staff and visionary leaders.

Mission

Core Values

To create sustainable value for shareholders by providing high quality
financial solutions and services to the global market whilst contributing
to national development.

Integrity | Confidentiality | Accountability | Professionalism

COVER:
It takes true expertise and a skilled eye to shape future possibilities.
1st National Bank started its 2014 financial year with a commitment to
restructure our organizational efficiency. Once the true foundation and core
values were determined, we were able to build upon the strength of better
policies and processes to create something of lasting value to all those we
serve, now and in the future.
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Notice is hereby given that the Seventy-Seventh Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the 1st National Bank St. Lucia
Limited will be held at the Civil Service Association Centre, Sans Souci, Castries, on Tuesday 28th April, 2015 at 5:00 p.m.

AGENDA
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

Tabling of Proxies.
To confirm the Minutes of the 76th Annual Meeting of Shareholders of 29th April, 2014.
Review of Matters arising out of the Minutes.
To consider and adopt the 2014 Report of the Board of Directors.
To consider and adopt the Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders for the year ended 31st December,
2014.
To consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December, 2014.
To re-appoint the Independent Auditor for the year ending 31st December, 2015.
To sanction the non-payment of a dividend as recommended by the Board of Directors.
To elect three Directors.
In accordance with Section 4.6 of the Bank’s By-Law No.1, the following Directors retire by rotation:• Mr. Adrian Augier - who is eligible for re-election.
• Mr. Nigel Fulgence - who is eligible for re-election.
• Mr. Joseph Maxwell - who will not be seeking re-election.

NOTE
Nominations may be made either in writing or on the prescribed forms and must reach the Bank’s registered office at
least five (5) days before the day of holding the meeting (viz by Wednesday 22nd April, 2015).

NOTE
A Shareholder entitled to attend the meeting and vote may appoint a proxy to vote in his/her place. A person appointed
by proxy need not be a shareholder. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the
appointer or of his/her attorney duly authorized in writing, or if such appointer is a corporation, either under its
common seal or under the hand of an officer or authority so authorized. The instrument appointing a proxy and the
power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy of that power of
authority shall be deposited at the registered office of THE COMPANY not less than forty eight hours before the
time for holding the meeting at which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote and in default, the
instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.
NOTICE is also hereby given that the Share Transfer Book of the Bank will be closed from 17th April, 2015 to 28th April,
2015 both dates inclusive.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD
Beryl Carasco-Alleyne
Corporate Secretary
9th April, 2015
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NOMINATION OF CANDIDATE FOR ELECTION AS A
DIRECTOR OF 1st NATIONAL BANK ST. LUCIA LIMITED
NOTE
Every director shall be the holder in his or her own right of at least one hundred unencumbered shares in the capital of
THE COMPANY.
No one (other than a retiring director) shall be eligible to be a director unless notice in writing that he or she is a candidate
for such office has been given to THE COMPANY by two other shareholders of THE COMPANY at least five days before
the day of holding the meeting at which the election is to take place.

We, the undersigned Shareholders of the above Bank, nominate

of

as a candidate for election as a Director of the Bank at the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders scheduled for
Signed

Signed

Print Name (above)

Print Name (above)

Date

Date

Please refer overleaf to the Guidelines on minimum requirements for determining fitness for Directorship.

3

GUIDELINES ON MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS
FOR DETERMINING FITNESS FOR DIRECTORSHIP
(As stated in Section 26 of the Banking Act of St. Lucia, #34 of 2006)
Every person who is likely to be a director of the Bank (the person) must be a fit and proper person. In general
determination of this status, regard shall be had to the following:(a)

the person’s probity, competence and soundness of judgement for fulfilling the responsibility of a Director;

(b)

the diligence with which that person is likely to fulfill the responsibilities of the position; and

(c)

whether the interests of depositors or potential depositors of the Bank are likely to be, in any way, threatened
by the person.

In addition to the general provisions above, regard must be had to the previous conduct and activities in business or
financial matters of the person, and in particular, to any evidence that the person nominated as a candidate:
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(a)

has committed an offence involving fraud and other dishonesty or violence;

(b)

has contravened any provision made by or under an enactment designed for protecting members of the public
against financial loss due to dishonesty, incompetence or malpractice by the persons concerned in the provision
of banking, insurance, investment or other financial services or the management of companies or against
financial loss due to the conduct of a discharged or un-discharged bankrupt;

(c)

is not current in his/her financial commitments and other obligations to the Bank and other financial institutions;

(d)

is not a member of either the Board, Management or Staff of institutions involved in business of a financial
nature including banking business.

APPOINTMENT OF PROXY
NOTE
The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer, or of his or her attorney duly
authorized in writing, or if such appointer be a corporation, either under its common seal or under the hand of an
officer or attorney so authorized. A proxy shall have the same rights as the shareholder appointing him or her as
defined in Sections 138 and 145 of THE COMPANIES ACT 1996 (Rev. 2001). A proxy is valid only at the meeting in
respect of which it is given or any adjournment thereof.
The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a
notarially certified copy of that power of authority shall be deposited at the registered office of THE COMPANY not less
than forty-eight hours before the time for holding the meeting at which the person named in the instrument proposes
to vote and in default, the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.
A person appointed by proxy need not be a shareholder.
I

of
to be held on
Signed this
Signature

of

being a shareholder of the company, hereby appoint

of

or failing him/her

my proxy to vote for me and on my behalf at the meeting of shareholders of the above company
the
day of

day of

20

and at any adjournment or adjournments thereof.

20
Date

Print Name
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1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited | Corporate Data

Corporate Office
Rodney Bay, Gros islet
P.O. Box 168
Castries
St. Lucia, West Indies
Tel (758) 455 7000
Fax:( 758) 453 1630
Castries Branch
21 Bridge Street
Castries, St. Lucia
West Indies
Tel (758) 455 7000
Fax: (758) 453 7695
Vieux-Fort Branch
P.O. Box 342
Commercial Street, Vieux Fort
Tel : (758) 454 6213
Fax : (758) 454 6137
Rodney Bay Branch
J.Q.’s Mall
Rodney Bay, Gros Islet
Tel (758) 452 8882/3
Fax: (758) 452 8884

Marigot Bay Branch
Marina Village
Marigot Bay, Castries
Tel: (758) 458 3744
Fax: (758) 458 3638

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Charmaine Gardner
President & Chairperson

Choc Bay Branch
Mercury Court
Choc Bay, Castries
Tel: (758) 455 7042
Fax: (758) 453 0943

Brenda Floissac-Fleming
2nd Vice President

Rodney Bay Marina Branch
Rodney Bay Marina, Gros Islet
Tel: (758) 455 7050/1
Fax: (758) 458 4982
Bureau de Change
George F.L. Charles Airport
Vigie, Castries
Tel (758) 453 1683
Fax: (758) 451 8482

Nigel Fulgence
1st Vice President

Joseph Maxwell
Christian Husbands
Johnson Cenac
Tedburt Theobalds
Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel
Adrian Augier
Richard Monplaisir
Andy Delmar
Managing Director
Corporate Secretary
Beryl Carasco-Alleyne
SOLICITORS
Floissac, Fleming & Associates

SWIFT: LUOBLCLC
Email: Manager@1stnationalbankslu.com

AUDITOR
KPMG Eastern Caribbean

WEBSITE:
www.1stnationalbankonline.com

REGULATOR
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank
Financial Sector Regulatory Authority

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •

AFFILIATIONS
Caribbean Credit Card Corporation (CCCC)
Eastern Caribbean Home Mortgage Bank (ECHMB)
Caribbean Association of Banks (CAB)
Eastern Caribbean Institute of Banking (ECIB)
Caribbean Association of Audit Committee Members Inc. (CAACM)
St. Lucia Chamber of Commerce Inustry and Agriculture
St. Lucia Employers Federation (SLEF)
Saint Lucia Hotel and Tourism Association (SLHTA)
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
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Board of Directors’ Report
At a time when many businesses are cutting costs related to human resources, it was
deemed paramount that we create a center of excellence for banking, which will in
turn deliver exceptional results to our shareholders, customers, employees and
the communities we serve.
Dr. Charmaine Gardner
President

Economic activity in many industry segments within
St. Lucia and the wider OECS failed to reach levels
required to invigorate consumer confidence and
direct investment.
While marginal recovery led by gains in the tourism
sector is anticipated for 2015, the banking industry
continues to experience excess liquidity, consistent
with the weak macro environment and the overall lack
of credit and revenue growth within the industry.
Notwithstanding the current challenges facing the
industry at this time, the Board of Directors and
employees remained focused on achieving our key
strategic goals, whilst being true to our guiding
principles.

ur ongoing mission of building 1st National
Bank into a first-choice financial services
provider continued throughout 2014. The
hallmarks of this process include the
Bank’s increasingly empowered management and staff,
its record of outstanding corporate citizenship, and its
improved performance in key areas such as deposit
and loan portfolio growth.
This performance made the Bank the industry leader in
deposit and loan portfolio growth; a noteworthy
performance, particularly when set against a
background of economic contraction in 2013 and 2014.
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Accordingly, 1st National Bank returned to profitability
with a pre-tax profit of EC$1,440,255 and a net profit
after tax of EC$481,479. These results are supported
by strong improvements in the acquisition and
retention of profitable clients, which translated to an
expansion in market share.
Total revenue grew by 5%, and the Bank’s balance
sheet recorded growth of 8% compared to 6% in 2013.
As of December 31st 2014, the balance sheet of
1st National Bank exceeded EC$550 million. Our
approach to growing the Bank has been balanced by
an increase in deposits and loan balances, recording
impressive improvements of 9% and 7% respectively.
The Bank’s Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio (CAR) is at 18%,
one of the strongest within the ECCU. As a measure of
resilience, this ratio is well above the minimum amount
required by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB)
as per Section 15 (1) of the St. Lucia Banking Act #34 of
2006. This achievement places1st National Bank as one
of the best capitalized banks within the ECCU region, a
fact of which we are justly proud.

Focused Priorities
During the year, the Board of Directors remained
committed to the achievement of strategic goals.
This commitment gathered additional momentum
on January 3rd 2014, when the Bank welcomed a
new Managing Director in the person of Mr. Andy
Delmar. New energy has been devoted to building a
formal risk and control framework that allows the
Bank to compete while staying true to its core values,
including the empowering of employees to deliver
exceptional performance in executing their duties.
Moreover, 1st National Bank now has a formal Credit
Risk Appetite Statement that sets out our approach
to managing risk in the process of doing business.
The Statement supports our risk management
culture and is aligned to our strategic pillar of
strengthening our risk and control framework. This is
further reflected in policies governing personal and
corporate credit designed to guide key credit risk
decisions.
The Board of Directors has also enabled a process that
will meet the training needs of the business in 2014.
At a time when many businesses are cutting costs
related to human resources, it was deemed paramount
that we create a center of excellence for banking, which will
in turn deliver exceptional results to our shareholders,
customers, employees and the communities we serve.
In shaping the future of the Bank, the Board of Directors
is assessing the continuing impact of the global
economic downturn. Our commitment to the St. Lucian
community remains fundamental to what we do every
day. This is manifested in our strategic support of key
development sectors and the many worthy causes we
consistently underwrite.

During the financial year, the composition of the Board
remained unchanged. This stability allowed us to
maintain focus on future opportunities before us.
Engagement with our shareholders remains key to our
advancement as a broadly held financial institution.
During the year, another successful shareholders’
educational forum was convened during which the
incoming Managing Director engaged with shareholders.
The keynote speaker at that event was the Deputy
Governor of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank,
Mr. Trevor Braithwaite.
The Credit Risk Committee continued its work of
strengthening the Bank’s credit risk framework. A revision
of key credit policies was undertaken to ensure alignment
with the Credit Risk Appetite Statement. The task of
stabilizing and reducing our non-performing loan ratio
was also accorded high priority. This work is central to our
goal of compliance with the ECCB.

Board Meetings
Attendance at Board Meetings was above average in
2014, demonstrating the Directors’ cognisance of the
critical role of providing oversight and strategic
direction for the Bank. The tables below illustrate
attendance at Board and Committee meetings for 2014.

Board Meeting Attendance For 2014
Names

Meetings Meetings
Held
Attended

Charmaine Gardner

12

11

Nigel Fulgence

12

12

Brenda Floissac-Fleming

12

10

Joseph Maxwell

12

10

Christian Husbands

12

11

Johnson Cenac

12

10

Tedburt Theobalds

12

12

Corporate Governance

Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel

12

11

The Corporate Governance Committee reviews
nominations to the Board of Directors of the Bank
and makes recommendations on eligibility,
composition and effectiveness. It is also
responsible for Board evaluation, succession
planning, and ensuring adherence to established
policies.

V. Adrian Augier

12

6

Richard Monplasir

12

10

Andy Delmar

12

8

Ultimately, we understand that the regulatory
landscape will continue to be one of increased
complexity. This is a necessary feature of a sound
financial industry. Given that reality, we believe that it is
our duty to deliver customer services that are
uncomplicated, accessible and user friendly.
1st National Bank, therefore, continues to invest in
simplifying the ways in which we fulfill the financial
needs of our customers.
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Board Committee Meeting Attendance For 2014
DIRECTORS

FINANCE &
PLANNING

HUMAN
RESOURCE

AUDIT

Meetings
Held

Actual
Attendance

Charmaine Gardner

6

1*

1

Nigel Fulgence

1

1

2

2

4

Brenda Floissac-Fleming

r

r

2

2

Joseph Maxwell

6

6

2

1

Christian Husbands

6

6

2

Johnson Cenac

i

i

Tedburt Theobalds

i

Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel

6

V. Adrian Augier

Meetings
Actual
Held
Attendance

JOINT MEETING

AUDIT & FINANCE

Actual
Attendance

Meetings
Held

Actual
Attendance

Meetings
Held

Actual
Attendance

12

10

1

1

1

1*

4

12

12

2

2

1

1

2

2

12

11

2

1

1

1*

4

4

6

6

6

6

1

1

2

2

2

6

6

2

2

1

1

i

i

4

4

12

12

12

12

1

1

i

i

i

4

4

12

12

12

12

1

1

5

5

5

4

4

6

6

6

6

1

1

6

3

3

3

3

3

6

6

2

1

1

1

Richard Monplasir

6

4

4

4

4

4

6

6

6

6

1

1*

Andy Delmar

6

6

2

2

4

1*

12

10

2

1

1

1

Actual
Meetings
Attendance
Held

Meetings
Held

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

CREDIT RISK

Mr. Monplasir was appointed to the Finance Committee in May 2014.
* In Attendance

Special Board and Committee Sessions
DIRECTORS
ENGAGEMENT
DIRECTORS
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Meetings
Held

FATCA TRAINING

Actual
Meetings
Attendance
Held

SPECIAL BUILDING
COMMITTEE

Actual
Meetings
Actual
Attendance
Held
Attendance

BOARD EVALUATION

Meetings
Held

Actual
Attendance

Charmaine Gardner

1

1

1

1

2

2

2

2

Nigel Fulgence

1

1

1

1

2

2

2

2

Brenda Floissac-Fleming

1

1

1

1

2

2

Joseph Maxwell

1

1

1

2

2

Christian Husbands

1

1

1

2

2

Johnson Cenac

1

1

1

1

2

2

Tedburt Theobalds

1

1

1

1

2

2

Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel

1

1

1

1

2

2

V. Adrian Augier

1

1

1

Richard Monplasir

1

1

1

Andy Delmar

1

1

1

2

2

2

2

2

1

1

2

2

2

2

1

2

2

2

1

Dividend Recommendation
For a second consecutive year, the Directors have not
recommended the payment of a dividend.

Our Outlook

“Shaping
Future
Possibilities”
These watchwords
are inspired by our
anticipation of strong
headwinds in our
industry and the need
to remain focused,
strategic and customer
driven.

Our theme for this annual report is “Shaping Future
Possibilities”. These watchwords are inspired by our
anticipation of strong headwinds in our industry and
the need to remain focused, strategic and customer
driven. We continue to foresee increased pressure on
interest margins, enhanced regulation, constrained
economic growth, and a difficult legal framework for
the liquidation of non-performing real estate.
Prevailing industry conditions suggest that we must
continue to prove our metal in the prudent execution
of our fiduciary duties. Accordingly, we continue to
invest significantly in our technology infrastructure
and our human resources, as we believe that a
long-term outlook will serve us best. By leveraging our
many strengths and talents, 1st National Bank will
continue to move expeditiously to ensure that we are
best positioned to achieve optimal performance as
economic conditions within the ECCU region improve.

In Closing
We are proud of our mission and our journey over
the last seventy-six years. We stand by our distinct
contribution to the shared task of nation building. Our
decades of prudent progress through varying economic
conditions validate our soundness of policy and
practice.
I thank our management and staff who have contributed
unstintingly to our achievements in 2014. I am
exceedingly grateful to my fellow directors for their
unwavering devotion to the success of our institution,
to our customers for their loyalty and support, and to
our shareholders for the confidence placed in the
Board of Directors as we journey to attain our shared
vision. As we focus on our 2018 vision, we seek your
invaluable support in shaping the many opportunities
we envisage ahead.

Dr. Charmaine Gardner
President
On behalf of the Board of Directors
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Board of Directors

Dr. Charmaine Gardner
President

Nigel Fulgence
1st Vice President

13

Brenda Floissac-Fleming
2nd Vice President

Andy Delmar

Managing Director

Christian Husbands

Joseph Maxwell

Director

Director

Johnson Cenac

Tedburt Theobalds

Director

Director

V. Adrian Augier
Director

Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel
Director

Richard Monplaisir
Director
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Managing Director’s Report

Shaping Future Possibilities
As we move into 2015, we are confident that 1st National Bank is increasingly well
positioned to take advantage of upcoming market opportunities.
Andy Delmar
Managing Director

dynamic and diversified service-based economy, our
very ability to prosper in an exciting and uncertain
future is being determined now by the resilience and
responsiveness we build into our operational systems.
During this first year of my tenure, I have therefore
devoted much time to learning the institution from the
inside out, meeting with employees, customers,
government officials and our many other stakeholders.
Throughout this process, I have remarked upon two
important fundamentals - the passion of the 1st
National Bank Team in serving the needs of our
customers, and the feeling of pride and goodwill of the
Saint Lucian community toward the 1st National brand.
These observations convince me that the enduring
relationship between our employees and our customers
constitutes the very foundation of our sustained
success. With this cornerstone well established, we can
focus confidently on our top achievements for 2014
and our leading priorities for 2015.

t is a singular honour to be entrusted with the
leadership of this longstanding financial institution
as it continues its important contribution to the
economic evolution of our country. It is a responsibility which I am grateful to share with the Bank’s
Directors who have given me this opportunity and
privilege.

Resilience and Responsiveness
In many ways, the role and relevance of this indigenous
financial institution mirrors the economic transformation
of our country. As our Bank transitions within a

Achievements
Returning the Bank to profitability assumed top
priority in 2014. This has been convincingly achieved
with aggressive provisioning, supported by new and
reliable revenue streams, a strengthened culture of
managing risk, and by augmenting value at every
interaction. These strategies have combined to deliver
record balance sheet growth, with assets surpassing
ECD$550 million.
With a Capital Adequacy Ratio at an enviable 18%,
1st National Bank remained one of the strongest banks
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The enduring relationship between our employees
and our customers constitutes the very foundation of
our sustained success.
in the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union (ECCU)
region. In September 2014, we passed the Central
Bank’s Capital Adequacy Stress Test at both the normal
and extreme test levels.
Similarly, in key areas of revenue, loan and deposit
growth, the Bank performed creditably, as compared
to industry averages for 2014. This was achieved while
making key investments to improve institutional
infrastructure and enhance employee capabilities.
In terms of improving our customer experience, we
introduced the 1st National Bank Mobile Banking App
for use on both Apple and android devices. The Bank
also launched four (4) unique customer focused sales
initiatives, with the 1st Future Land Loan Campaign
proving to be a long awaited product for many young
St. Lucians.
In December 2014, a new tariff pricing system was
introduced which boasts the best value for money on
deposit accounts. This was done to enhance non-credit
while recouping fair returns, and so reduce the Bank’s
dependence on credit as the single largest determinant of profitability. As of writing I am extremely
pleased to report that the banking public has voted
with their accounts, and we are thankful for their show
of confidence in our institution.
While the industry remains challenged by many issues
beyond its immediate control, 1st National Bank has
reaffirmed its commitment to navigating such externalities while actively engaging stakeholders and
delivering increased shareholder value.

Expectations
2015 presents exceptional opportunities to enhance
our lead role in nation building, while becoming the
bank of choice in all our target segments. Accordingly,
our customers can expect to see improved levels of
engagement, more targeted customer service and sales
approaches, and greater convenience in conducting
their day to day banking.
Effective May 1st, 2015 the mandatory savings interest
rate will be reduced from 3% to 2% in the ECCU region.
This is a new and interesting development across the
industry, one which will require us to explore new
options and responses as it impacts stakeholders.
The Bank bade farewell at the end of 2014 to Mr.
Joseph Fedee who retired following 12 years of
managing the operations, information technology and
premises functions at the Bank. We appreciate his
contribution and wish him well in his retirement.
As we move into 2015, we are confident that 1st National
Bank is increasingly well positioned to take advantage
of upcoming market opportunities. It therefore remains
for me to thank the entire 1st National Bank Team for
warmly welcoming me into their ranks, and for their
continued commitment to our customers, our shareholders, and the communities we strive so unstintingly
to serve.

Andy Delmar
Managing Director
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TECHNOLOGY

TECHNOLOGY,
CLIENT SUPPORT
AND PREMISES

d

corporate
lending

RECOVERIES &
SECURITIES

RISK, COMPLIANCE
& SECURITIES

Organizational Chart

loan
assessment

INTERNAL AUDIT

Executive Management Team

Andy Delmar

Managing Director

Denise Holden-Pierre

Valery Marshall-St. Omer

Executive Manager, Internal Audit

Executive Manager, Human Resource
& Organizational Development

Beryl Carasco-Alleyne

Robert Fevrier

Corporate Secretary
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Aurea Lafeuillee

Executive Manager, Finance & Research

Executive Manager,
Marketing & Public Relations

Joseph Fedee

Executive Manager, Technology,
Client Support & Premises

Sylvia Alcee

Executive Manager, Credit & Client Services

Clarette Auguste-Taylor
Executive Manager, Risk,
Compliance & Securities

Management Team

Left to Right Standing

Mansley Julius

Manager, Loans Assessment

Hermina Francis

Manager, Card Services

Angel d' Auvergne

Manager, Corporate Lending

Jacqueline Anthony
Manager, Client Support

Beverly Anne Greene

Manager, Accounting & Finance

Patricia Howell

Manager, Recoveries &
Securities

Naomi Promesse-Edward
Manager, Client Services
Vieux-Fort Branch

.........................................................................................................
Left to Right Sitting

Juliana Jean Jacques-Popo
Manager, Client Services
Rodney Bay, Marina Branch

Fibronia Ferdinand-Gaston

Sharlyn Davidson

Manager, Client Services
Choc Bay Branch

Manager, Client Services
Rodney Bay Branch

Gregory Tench

Manager, Technology

Bridget Sutherland
Manager, Client Services
Castries Branch
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Management Discussion
and Analysis
Significant growth was recorded for loan interest income, increasing by 10% or
$2.85 million over the 2013 figure.

1

st National Bank returned to a profitable
position for the financial year ended December
31st 2014, recording a net profit of $0.48 million.
This represents an increase of nearly 300% over
the prior year. The key performance drivers included:

However, the following income categories registered
decreases:
1.

Investment interest income – this income
category fell by 24% due to a reduction in
interest rates on investment securities held, a
general dearth of traditional opportunities for
investments as our risk appetite and exposure
levels changed and greater caution being
exercised in placing investments in what was
previously considered risk free instruments.

2.

Foreign exchange income recorded a negative
variance of 5% when compared to last year,
due to falling foreign exchange rates towards
the latter part of the year.

1. Growth in the net loan portfolio of 6%, aided by
executing more targeted sales promotions;
2. Implementation of a targeted cost containment
program which saw a minimal increase of 1%
over the previous year;
3. A reduction in the cost of funding of deposit
accounts.

The increase in profit after tax illustrates the positive
performance that our stakeholders can expect and
demonstrates commitment by our employees to
deliver results in a very challenging and competitive
market. The future performance will be guided by four
strategic pillars as follows:

Loan interest comprised 76% of total income, followed
by commission and other income at 9%. Our strategy
to reduce reliance on loan interest income is expected
to be realised in the coming years. The composition of
total income is illustrated in the chart below.

• development and implementation of growth
strategies
• focussing on value for our clients by understanding their needs
• continuously investing in our people and
infrastructure, and
• strengthening our risk and control framework.

Revenue
In spite of the negative Gross Domestic Product (GDP)
growth experienced in our country, total income
increased by 5% over that recorded for the 2013
financial year. Significant growth was recorded for
interest income from loans and advances , increasing
by 10% or $2.85 million over the 2013 figure, with
credit card interest income increasing by 26%.
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Composition of Total Income
Credit
Fee
Foreign Card Income
Exchange 1%
1%
7%
Commission
Income
9%
Investment
Income
7%
Loan
Interest
76%

The following chart illustrates that total interest
income for 2014 was higher than that for 2013 and
nearer previous levels for 2011.

15%
8%

1%

3%

Significant areas of expense growth were noted in
equipment expenses and professional fees. The increase
in equipment expenses is the result of software licenses
such as Microsoft Windows 2013 and IBM backup server
licenses for business continuity, relevant to the provision
of payment services on behalf of our customers.

Interest expense
The total interest expense for the year grew by 2% but
not in proportion with the growth of deposits. This
growth relationship was a deliberate strategy and was
due to a number of factors including the lower market
driven rates on similar instruments. Another factor was
the fact that financial institutions were fairly liquid
during the year. Last but not least, was the implementation
of a decision to price interest rates on deposits to
reflect the market reality while ensuring that our
customers received competitive rates in the market.

Net interest expense
During 2014, the Bank recorded increases in both
interest income and interest expense. However, the
growth rate for interest income outpaced that of
interest expense at 6% versus 2%. This resulted in an
impressive 9% growth over the previous year for net
interest income. Consequently, the net interest margin
increased by approximately 8 basis points over the
same period last year, thereby impacting the financial
position positively.

Non-interest expenses
The Bank’s disciplined and conservative financial
management was responsible for the low growth of
total non-interest expense of only 1%, growing from
$16.6 million to $16.8 million this year. Management
remained committed to reducing discretionary costs
and containing others. This achievement is illustrated
in the following chart.

The increase in professional expenses is due to our
strategy to enhance credit and operational risk
management; during the year significant resources were
deployed to update key policies and train staff in
tandem with the development of a formal risk framework
for the organisation. These policies will redound to
better governance and improved asset quality and
ultimately, better performance in the medium to long
term.
Staff expenses increased as a result of the full year
impact of the restructuring which occurred during the
last quarter of 2013 as well as the remuneration for the
new Managing Director. For the first time in years, no
salary increments were paid during the year, principally
because of the net loss position reported in the prior
year.
Cost reductions were attained by tightly managing
discretionary costs like advertising, utilities, repairs and
maintenance and insurance costs.

Provision for loan losses
The Bank has continued its prudent approach in
managing its loan assets and as a result, the total
provision for loan and advance losses of $9.8 million
increased by 4% over the prior year. The increase in
provisioning was necessary to achieve new policy
requirements related to provisioning against impaired
assets. This policy is conservative in design and will
ensure that we meet standards set by the regulator
and the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS).
Overall, the Bank’s profit performance before provision
is fair at $11.3 million but unfortunately, this achievement
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was overshadowed by the ongoing effects of the 2007
global downturn materializing in a total provision of
$9.8 million, thereby significantly reducing the profit
before tax position.

Financial position
Notwithstanding the stiff competition for banking
business and the negative economic growth experienced
by our country this year, the Bank’s balance sheet grew
by 8% over the audited position for 2013. Our strategy
to increase our customer deposit base bore fruit and
was the main contributor, increasing deposits by 9% or
$38 million over 2013. The graph below illustrates the
growth of the Bank’s assets over the last five years.

The less than desirable economic variables in many
Caribbean countries have narrowed our investment
choices, resulting in the decision not to invest and to
maintain funds in the due from banks category.
Overall, the weighted average effective interest rate of
the interest bearing investments was 5.17%, down from
5.22% last year. As illustrated in the chart below, 33% of
the instruments in the portfolio were held to maturity
and a further 29% comprised loans to institutions. 25%
of the portfolio was held in the available for sale
category and 13% was held in treasury bills.
Investment by Security Type

Held to
Maturity
33%

Treasury
Bills
13%
Loans
to Financial
Institutions
29%

Available
for Sale
25%

The Bank has a fair mix of instruments in Government
and quasi-governmental institutions, corporate entities
and financial institutions. This composition by institution
is illustrated below.
Investment by Category
The Bank maintained sufficient levels of cash and cash
equivalents to meet its liquidity needs. The ratio of
cash and cash balances at Central Bank to deposits was
prudent at 8%, well above the ECCB minimum ratio of
6%.
Due to the economic position and the need to maintain
liquid funds should a liquidity situation arise, the Bank
held surplus funds in its correspondent bank accounts
and was able to satisfy the Central Bank that it held
liquid funds for any reasonable occasion that may
arise. The Bank held a prudent $59 million in the due
from banks category, ensuring it met the 25% liquidity
threshold established by the Central Bank.

Investments
The value of the investment portfolio fell by 20% to
$56 million as a result of a decision to reduce our
exposure to certain sectors.
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Corporate
11%
Quasi Gov’t
2%
GOSL
31%

Banks/NBFI
48%

Gov’t of
Bermuda
1%
GOSKN
7%

A majority (74%) of the investment portfolio is invested
in short term instruments of less than one year. The
investment portfolio is so structured to assist with
liquidity management as well as the profitability of the
Bank.

Maturity Analysis
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26.1%

21.2%
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Lending to customers
The net loan and advances portfolio increased by 6%
over the audited figures for 2013, growing from $358
million to $380 million in 2014. This is a fair performance
having due consideration to the competitive nature of
the industry and the stagnant economic climate. For
these same reasons, the weighted average effective
interest rate on productive loans to customers fell by
approximately 21 basis points to 8.63%. All lending
categories recorded growth, with the exception of
overdrafts, which fell by 14% as we continued efforts to
improve asset quality. The chart below illustrates loan
values for the last five years.

In terms of concentration of credit risk, the Bank’s
exposure to Government and Tourism is fairly low.
Credit exposure to Government and Tourism was 6%
and 1% respectively. The largest concentration of
35% is in the personal sector. All industry sectors
recorded lending growth except lending to Government.

Based on the regulatory guidelines for provisioning, 77%
of the Bank’s lending had a pass rating, compared to 78%
last year. This is reflective of our more conservative
view of the portfolio.
At December 31st 2014, the ratio of non-performing
loans (NPL) to total loans was 19.5% compared to
21.2% at December 31st 2013. As we shape the future
growth of the Bank, we continuously review strategies
with the intention to attain the ECCB required threshold
of 5% over the medium term. The graph below
illustrates our efforts to attain the regulatory ratio.
The composition of the Other category in the bar graph
above is illustrated in the pie chart below.
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Equity

Loans and advances to customers comprised 69% of
the Bank’s total assets and likewise contributed the
largest portion of the bank’s total income. Commitments
to lend but not yet booked totalled $18 million.

Property plant and equipment
This asset category increased by a net amount of $0.66
million, increasing to $14.6 million. During the year,
our investment in infrastructure remained key. The
Bank invested in property, plant and equipment to
outfit the new Corporate Office in Rodney Bay and to
continue repairs to the Castries Business Unit to improve
the aesthetics for customers and staff alike. The Bank
also purchased new servers for our many information
technology initiatives to enhance customer service and
also upgraded laptops for use by management officers
aimed at increasing efficiency.

The Bank’s retained earnings position increased by 1%
over the last year mainly as a result of increased earnings
after tax. This has contributed somewhat to the overall
strength of the Bank.

Capital Adequacy
All banks are required to maintain adequate regulatory
capital in equity, reserves and retained earnings. The
Bank has managed its capital assets conservatively and
the decision to adhere to its capital preservation plan
has served it well over the years. Today, the Bank is one
of the strongest banks in the Eastern Caribbean Currency
Union (ECCU), with a strong Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio
of 18%, well above the ECCB requirement.
1st National Bank was successful in passing capital
adequacy requirements at both the normal and extreme
levels. This is something that we are extremely proud of
and validates the long term view adopted by the Board
of Directors and Management as it relates to wealth
creation for shareholders.

Intangible assets

Achievements

Approximately $0.29 million was spent on upgrades for
Core Director, Microsoft office, Windows 7, ATM and
Mobanking upgrades, all to achieve customer service
excellence. The Bank prides itself in being one of the
first banks to introduce technology products to St. Lucia
and will endeavour to maintain this status in the interest
of its customers.

The table below illustrates some of our key achievements
for 2014 based on standard ratios established by ECCB.

Customer deposits
Our strategic priority to focus on value for our customers
has augmented growth of deposits year on year by 9%
compared to 7% last year. This is commendable.
Interestingly, savings deposits grew by 12% year on year,
demonstrating our customers’ confidence and interest
in the Bank. The weighted average effective interest rate
on deposits fell from 3.35% in 2013 to 3.17% in 2014.
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NPL to total loans ratio

Our outlook
It is anticipated that during 2015, The ECCU’s strategy
to have a single banking environment will become a
reality through a revision of the Banking Act. This
revision at the time of writing had been approved by
the Monetary Council and was actively being
discussed with stakeholders. This revised Banking Act,
will also provide the ECCB with stronger powers to
regulate banks within the ECCU. The Board and
Management of the Bank stand ready for the changes
that are to be made.
Management is pleased with the return to profit this
year coming from a net loss after tax last year. Looking ahead, the Bank anticipates stronger growth in
lending and increased market share to approximately
12% of the market. The recently announced ECCB
sanctioned reduction of the mandatory savings rate to
2% will take effect on May 1st, 2015 and we are
currently assessing the impact that this change will
have on the banking environment and our financial
performance.
The full impact of our revised fee pricing model is still
being reviewed but we have seen improvement in our
fee income and goal to improve our earnings outside
of interest income. We will continue to invest in our
electronic banking platform to ensure that
1st National Bank is best in class within the ECCU region
and well positioned to take advantage of regulatory
changes. Additionally, non-interest expenses will be
managed to remain static in order to contribute to a
better return for our shareholders.
Our focus remains on improving our productivity
ratio by expanding our revenue streams. The Bank’s
decision to work closely with another ECCU Bank to
achieve synergies is expected to deliver some level of
operational cost reduction in the medium to long
term. Lowering operational costs through automation
of systems and technology will also bring desired
results in the medium term.
It is anticipated that the economies of the ECCU will
record higher growth in 2015 with GDP growth for
St. Lucia expected to be about 1.39%. The Bank will
use this platform for growth and development for the
benefit of its stakeholders.
Our major targets to 2016 are illustrated in the
following chart:

Major Performance Indicators

2016 Targets

Return on Equity, %

10.79%

Net Profits, $M

$10.6

Market Share (Loans) in St. Lucia

12%

Central Bank Soundness Rating

Satisfactory

Risk Management
The Board of Directors through its Committees has
oversight of the risk function of the Bank. These
include liquidity risk, credit risk and operational risk
which may cause actual results to differ from the plan.
The management of credit risk in the banking sector is
critical to our continuing existence and profitability.
The key is in understanding and accurately identifying all
risks upfront, mitigating the risks to the greatest extent
possible (through collateral and financial covenants),
monitoring the clients results to quickly identify changes
in circumstances, and in ensuring that the Bank is
appropriately compensated for the risks undertaken.
This is, and always will be, a core competency of the
Bank.
With the decision taken in the prior year to proceed
with a department dedicated to Risk and Compliance,
2014 saw the development and growth of the unit
from an idea on paper to a functional entity charged
with the responsibility to engender a risk culture
throughout the institution.
The unit was headed by the Executive Manager, Risk,
Compliance, Recoveries & Securities and high on the
agenda was the formulation of a Risk Framework
which would guide the department and in the process
seek to inculcate a risk culture throughout the
organization.
The Risk, Compliance, Recoveries and Securities Unit
performs several important tasks including;
• Developing 1st National Bank’s risk appetite
and key control measures
• Developing and communicating approved risk
policies and procedures to control risks
• Measuring, monitoring and reporting of risks
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• Helping to establish the right level of delegated
authority within the business and
• Helping to identify emerging and potential risk
to the business.
The department worked assiduously in 2014 to review
and update policies where necessary and we were able
to ensure that the Bank had revised policies for business
continuity and disaster preparedness, anti-fraud,
politically exposed persons, anti-money laundering,
corporate and retail credit. Other components of our
Operations manual have also been reviewed and updated
by the unit and adopted in the business.

service channels. In that respect, we have invested in a
Customer Relationship Management system which will
be fully integrated into the way we serve our customers during 2015. The focus of The Client Service Group
remains on the:
•

Ease of doing business

•

Speed of doing business

• Convenience of doing business with us.
We have focussed on training our people and setting
standards to ensure a consistent customer experience
at all locations. In 2015, we will be engaging our banking
public by way of quarterly customer feedback surveys
to validate our service delivery promise. We are looking
forward to receiving honest and constructive feedback
from our customers.

Customer service and delivery
Customer experience remains a critical ingredient for
the sustained growth of our business. During the
financial year, the Client Service team was focussed on
delivering greater convenience in banking to our loyal
customers. Our Saturday banking hours remain
unmatched within the St. Lucian Market with six of our
seven locations being open to the public. The launch of
our Mobanking App has also added to the level of
convenience for smart phone users who want to interact
with their bank on their terms.
Customers have been treated to more targeted sales
events catering to their financial needs. The 1st National
Bank 1st Wheels and 1st Future land loan client offerings
were well received by the banking public. The 1st Wheels
offer committed the Bank to an approval of a loan within
48 hours of receiving the customer’s document. The 1st
Future land loan was targeted at young St. Lucians
seeking to own a piece of this beautiful island.
It is our intention to double these efforts in 2015
ensuring that the confidence that has been placed in
us is reinforced. We will also leverage best in class
technology solutions to ensure that each customer
experience is customized and consistent across all
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Human Resources
In 2014, the Bank placed strong emphasis on one of
our key corporate strategic perspectives, that of learning
and growth. We believe that this is an essential
component in the cultivation of an ethic of inspirational
leadership throughout the Bank. Our bank-wide staff
training and development programme appropriately

focused on career development, and building leadership
capacity and core skills. Through the provision of training
opportunities, the Bank continued to develop highly
competent and committed staff. Consequently, costs
related to the training and development of personnel,
was the one component of the budget which was not
reduced.
In the year under review, the Bank was able to maintain
its position on non-retrenchment of staff, and instead
focused on reviewing existing positions, and making
adjustments where necessary to support the new
organizational structure. The decision to maintain its
current staff levels speaks to a belief in the St. Lucian
economy and a longer term view of doing business.
This decision has contributed to the family atmosphere,
redounding to the Bank’s productivity.

Leadership Training
The Bank’s Core Values of Integrity, Accountability,
Confidentiality and Professionalism in conjunction with
the Code of Honour, guides the ethical behaviour and
high standards to which its leadership is held. Those
elements form part of all in-house training sessions.
An important element of our leadership team is that of
imparting knowledge on a day to day basis and
especially after returning from a training session. Our
management team has been exposed to training in the
art of coaching others.
In order to strengthen leadership capacity, the
Management team participated in Leadership
Management International’s six (6) week Effective
Personal Productivity Program. The program which was
facilitated by REBIT Ltd., focused on developing
effective behaviours in critical areas such as Time
Management, Goal Setting, Communication and
Leadership. Additionally, the program encouraged
participants to identify and focus on high payoff
activities, as well as measure personal productivity.
This investment assisted especially our new managers
in developing key managerial skills.
HR staff and Branch Managers attended a workshop on
the Labour Code, which was facilitated by the St. Lucia
Employers Federation. Participation in such programs
is critical, especially for the development of our new
Managers.

Strengthening Technical and knowledge base

opportunities geared towards the development of
technical skills. Among the workshops attended was
the Operational and Product Marketing Seminar which
was hosted by the Caribbean Credit Card Corporation;
as well as the annual Alchemy SWISS Route User group
meeting which was facilitated by Eastern Caribbean
Amalgamated Bank in collaboration with IBIS
Management Associates Inc. Bank wide, staff also
benefited from technical training on our Core Operating
system, which was conducted by Jack Henry and
Associates.

Credit Training
Throughout the year, the Bank maintained a strong
focus on improving the management of Credit Risk,
through fortnightly in-house training sessions, facilitated
by our Credit Consultant. Our Client Service Managers,
Lenders and Recoveries staff benefited from these
engagements, where topics ranged from Balance Sheet
Analysis, Lending and Sales Workshops to overview of
Land and Vehicle loans. Customer Relationship Officers
were given reminder training in customer relationships
and credit via various means including role play and
review of actual credit files. Strategic initiatives that
focused on customer service delivery were discussed
and cascaded to staff.
In addition to the in-house training, two of our Managers
attended a Credit Risk Management workshop, facilitated
by the Caribbean Association of Banks.

Other Human Resource Management
Initiatives
Branch Classification
One of our key initiatives for 2014 was the classification
of Branches. Branch activities were assessed and each
Branch was classified as large, medium or small
depending on the following criteria:
-

Revenue

-

Value of Loans & Deposits

-

Number of full-time employees

-

Transaction volumes

Classifying the Branches is important, as this dictates
the level of staffing required for the efficient operation
of the particular unit.

As we continued to facilitate the strengthening of the
technical skills and knowledge base of our personnel,
staff members were exposed to a number of training
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Performance Management System
Having continued the process of exposing the
Management team to Performance Management
System (PMS) orientation sessions, the system was
implemented in 2014. The key initiatives were
discussed with each member of the Management
Executive team and performance is measured based
on the employee’s ability to meet these goals. We
anticipate that the PMS will be rolled out to the entire
business by the end of Q1 of 2015.

HR Policy Development
During the year, the Bank focused on the revision of
existing policies, as well as the development of new
human resource related policies where necessary. Among
the policies which were developed are the staff gratuity
policy, staff incentive policy and the staff tuition
assistance policy. We also developed the Internal
Management Trainee program whereby a staff member
is selected to benefit from an accelerated training
program, which affords the individual the opportunity
to be exposed to every unit of the organization.

the various communities in which we operate. Our
thrust to improve the quality of life for our people by
providing opportunities for the realization of dreams
and aspirations and to help shape the future direction
of our youth and by extension our country continued
throughout the year.
Our amazing work as a good corporate citizen copped
the award for Financial Education and Empowerment
as well the Good Corporate Citizen to Sports Award
from the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank. The Bank
also received the Corporate Social Responsibility
Award from the St. Lucia Chamber of Commerce,
Industry and Agriculture for 2014.
During the year under review, the Bank made contributions
to many charitable causes and community events,
ensuring the sustainability and success of these
ventures. Some of the areas impacted were as follows:
•

Education

•

Sports

•

Cultural Development

We would like to congratulate Mrs. Medina Charles on
being the successful candidate for 2015.

Staff Surveys
We recognize the importance of understanding what
satisfies and motivates staff. Consequently the Bank
carried out a staff engagement survey during 2014.
This initiative will be executed annually.
We are cognizant of the new challenges, but we are
determined to ensure that our Human Resource
continues to operate at the highest standards. Thus in
2015, we will continue to invest in the relevant staff
training and development initiatives, in order to
enhance productivity. Considering that the organization
has evolved into a sales and service focused Bank, we
will be placing significant effort in providing our staff
with the required sales training, as well as a service
platform which will be used for the training and
empowerment of staff.

Corporate Social Responsibility
Despite the many economic challenges experienced in
2014, 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited stayed true to
its tag line “Here for You” and in spite of the stagnant
economic climate, continued to care and give back to
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Education
2014 saw the last recipient of the Francis Carasco
Scholarship complete his training programme with the
Bank. Mr. Dawnavan Foster who holds a Bachelor’s
Degree with a double major in Economics and Law is
currently functioning in the capacity of Analyst, Electronic
Banking Channels and Cards. To date, 6 persons have
successfully completed degrees through this program.
Anansi’s Challenge is an exciting and popular game
show pitting school against school in answering questions
from a wide range of educational topics related to the
national education curriculum. Two scholarships are
given annually to the winners to assist them in meeting
the costs associated with transitioning to a secondary
school. To date the Bank has issued 8 scholarships.

The Junior Achievement Programme (JA) is also
supported by the Bank. It is our conviction that the JA
programme’s approach to the business education and
leadership development of our youth is of utmost
importance in today’s society.
1st National Bank is proud to be the only Bank rendering
support to the premier tertiary institution on island,
Sir Arthur Lewis Community College with respect to
the College’s Career Guidance Showcase. The Bank
undertakes to carry out mock job interviews in an
endeavour to prepare the students for the inevitable
first job interview.
The Bank continued its Homework Assistance
Programme in one of the underprivileged communities
in the heart of the city known as “The Graveyard”. The
Bank sees this as its civic duty to reach out to the young
and vulnerable within such communities in an effort to
motivate the youth towards becoming productive
citizens of St. Lucia. A total of 120 children have
benefited from the programme.

The sport of Table Tennis also came in for assistance
from the Bank. Support from 1st National Bank for both
the Senior Caribbean Table Tennis Championships
and the OECS Table Tennis Championships enabled
the participation of 11 countries in the Caribbean
Championships which was held on St. Lucian soil for
the very first time.
Swimming as a sport has become increasingly popular
among the youth in St. Lucia. The Bank, in collaboration
with the St. Lucia Amateur Swimming Association,
continues to host the National Secondary School
Swimming Championships. Ten secondary schools on
the island participated in the twelfth edition of the
event.
Community football also got a shot in the arm from
1st National Bank. The Bank was one of the sponsors of
a Soccer-Rama held in the rural community of Jacmel
located on the west coast of St. Lucia.
The Community of Babonneau also received much
needed assistance from the Bank as the Police unit in
that area organized a Soccer-Rama for the youth of that
community as part of their community policing project.

Sports
The 1st National Bank 14 and Under Track and Field
Championship is in its 21st year of unbroken partnership
with the St. Lucia Athletics Association. This Championship
has produced many CARIFTA and Commonwealth
medalists as well as Olympic athletes. The Bank is proud
of these milestones and continues to invest in the
young athletes of St. Lucia.
1st National Bank champions the cause of the St. Lucia
National Under 23 Netball Team ensuring that the
team is always in readiness for competition. Particular
assistance is given to the team to guarantee their
participation annually in the OECS/ECCB Under 23
Netball Tournament.
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The following successful events were sponsored by the
Bank:
•

Just us Kids Junior Carnival Band (Band of
the Year Kiddies Carnival)

•

Rituals Junior Carnival Band

•

Rituals Carnival Band (winner of the prestigious
title of Band of the Year)

•

St. Lucian Spirits Carnival Band (2nd Place Band
of the Year and winner of Section of the Year)

•

Meltdown Carnival Band (Community Carnival

in the South)

• The Socalypso Revue Calypso Tent
•

Police Calypso Competition
(Kaiso Headquarters)

•

R.C Boys Primary School Calypso competition
(R.C. Jam)

Culture
1st National Bank supports community Jazz events
throughout the length and breadth of St. Lucia. The
jazz events sponsored were Fond d’Or Jazz, Jazz
Rhythms, Tea Time Jazz, Jazz on the Bay, Jazz in the
South, Monchy Jazz, and S.A.L.C.C. Jazz.
The Bank has been the premier sponsor of the
Fond d’Or Jazz Festival for the past six years. This
Community jazz event is organized by the Fond d’Or
Foundation, a volunteer community group based in
the village of Dennery located on the East Coast of
St. Lucia. Much economic benefit is derived from the
event for members of that community and surrounding
areas, as the event is held at the Fond d’Or Nature and
Historical Park creating employment before, during
and after the event.
Proceeds from the event are channelled into scholarships
and bursaries to benefit underprivileged youth/students
within the community. Fire victims and residents
affected by natural disasters as well as the poor and
elderly in the community are also assisted financially.
The Bank plays an active role of support in particular
through the involvement of its Executive Marketing
Manager.
The International Literary Festival saw the launch of
Nobel laureate Hon. Derek Walcott’s play entitled
Pantomime. The event opened with a gala night,
followed by two subsequent showings which were
filled to capacity, much to the delight of the organizers
and the premier sponsor 1st National Bank.
St. Lucia Carnival, the country’s biggest cultural showcase
came alive with support from 1st National Bank in a
number of activities.
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Kite flying, once a vibrant St. Lucian tradition, has been
revived with the involvement and financial input of
1st National Bank. This family event saw a number of
kites of various shapes and sizes dominating the blue
skies above the Pigeon island causeway. Part of the
funds also provides for a kite making workshop. The
Bank intends to continue its support of the event with
more involved participation in the future.

Community Outreach
1 National Bank continues its philanthropic donations
to a number of organizations to assist in their outreach
programs and has established long standing covenants
with them. Some of the beneficiaries are as follows:
st

to this eye disease that is so prevalent on the island.
Every year a Walk for Glaucoma is held in a different
community where staff of 1st National Bank come out
in solidarity with the Association.

5. Marian Home

Following the passage of the Christmas Eve Trough in
December of 2013, the Bank’s Staff volunteered to
purchase grocery and relief items for persons from the
west coast village of Canaries who were affected by this
weather system. The Bank agreed to match the items
purchased and during 2014, a sizeable donation was
made to the residents of that community by staff
personally, bringing much relief and comfort to those
affected.

6. St. Lucy’s Home

Shareholder information

7. Holy Family Children’s Home

During the year under review, there was no change in
the total number of the Bank’s outstanding shares.
The largest shareholder held 15.3% of the total shares
of the Bank. The total number of shareholders at
December 31st 2014 was 1,329. A total of 58,399
shares were transferred during 2014.

1. C.A.R.E.: Centre for Adolescent Renewal and
Education
2. C.D.G.C.: Child Development and Guidance
Centre
3. N.C.F.: National Community Foundation
4.

St. Lucia Blind Welfare Association

8. St. Lucia Sickle Cell Association
9. St. Benedict’s Parish feeding Programme
10. George Charles Secondary School Feeding
Programme
11. Catholic Television Broadcasting Service
The Bank provides continuous support to the St. Lucia
Glaucoma Association in its drive to sensitize St. Lucians

The table below illustrates the year of election and
re-election for the current Board of Directors. Directors
are elected for a three year term.

ROTATION OF DIRECTORS IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 4
OF BY-LAW NO.1
Year of election

Year of re-election

No. of completed
terms

Charmaine Gardner

1990

2013

8

Nigel Fulgence

2000

2012

4

Brenda Floissac-Fleming

1993

2013

7

Joseph Maxwell

2001

2012

4

Christian Husbands

2003

2012

3

Johnson Cenac

2008

2014

2

Tedburt Theobalds

2008

2014

2

Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel

2011

2014

1

Adrian Augier

2012

Richard Monplaisir

2013

Name
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
The Shareholders
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited (the
Bank), which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2014, and the statements of changes in
equity, profit or loss, other comprehensive income and cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Bank as at December 31, 2014 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

KPMG Eastern Caribbean
April 15, 2015
Castries, Saint Lucia
KPMG Eastern Caribbean, a partnership registered in Antigua &,
Barbuda,
St. Lucia and St. Vincent and the Grenadines, and a
member firm of the
KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with
KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”),
a Swiss entity

Frank V. Myers
Cleveland S. Seaforth

Brian A. Glasgow
Reuben M. John
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Balance Sheet
As of December 31, 2014
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
Note

2014
$

2013
$

6
7
8
9
10

37,327,895
58, 981,698
7,211,052
16,306,757
379,780,935

32,998,645
28,343,891
15,628,748
22,401,929
357,592,217

12
12

13,580,832
18,517,218
1,382,000
14,556,778
1,007,767
2,804,607

10,513,202
20,677,754
355,462
1,074,000
13,901,453
999,244
7,240,133

551 ,457, 539

511,726,678

470,299,112
5,272,72 6
30,439
669,884

432,382,808
3,965,416
540,345

476, 272,161

436,888,569

7,971,454
54,772,16 5
12,441,759

7,971,454
54,093,406
12,773,249

75, 185,378

74,838,109

551,457,53 9

511,726,678

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loansand advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities:
- available-for -sale
- held-to -maturity
Income tax recoverable
Defined benefit asset
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Other assets

19
13
14
16

Total assets
Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities
Income tax payable
Deferred income tax liability

17
18
20

Total liabilities
Equity
Capital and reserves
Share capital
Retained earnings
Reserves
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

21
22

The financial statements, on pages 36 to 103, were approved for issue on March 20, 2015 by the Board of
Directors and signed on its behalf by:

__________________________

_________________________

Director

Director
The accompany notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended December 31, 2014
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
Note

2014
$

2013
$

Interest and similar income

23

34,796,332

32,759,136

Interest expense and similar charges

23

(14,054,528)

(13,736,717)

20,741,804

19,022,419

7,368,860

7,409,515

28,110,664

26,431,934

Net interest income
Other operating income

24

Operating income
Other operating expenses

25

(16,841,134 )

(16,606,219 )

Impairment losses

28

(9,829,275 )

(9,460,185 )

1,440,255

365 ,530

(958 ,776 )

(583,962 )

481,479

(218,432)

0.10

(0.04)

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

29

Net profit/(loss) for the year

Earnings per share
(expressed in EC$ per share)
- basic and diluted

30

The accompany notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2014
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
2014
$

2013
$

481,479

(218,432)

194,000

30,000

Net fair value losses on available -for -sale financial assets

(328,210)

(72,220)

Other comprehensive loss for the year

(134,210)

(42,220)

347,269

(260,652)

Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss
Re -measurement of defined benefit asset (Note 19)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

The accompany notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance at December 31, 2014

Transfer to retained earnings

-

7,971,454

-

-

7,971,454

19

-

-

-

7,971,454
-

7,971,454

31

19

-

7,971,454

3,727,625

(3,280)

-

-

-

3,730,905
-

(7,046)
3,730,905

-

-

3,737,951

Statutory Revaluation
Reserve
Reserve
$
$

-

7,971,454
-

7,971,454

-

-

7,971,454

Share
Capital
$

742,680

-

(328,210)

(328,210 )

-

1,070,890
-

1,070,890

(72,220 )
(72,220 )

-

1,143,110

Revaluation
Reserve –
available –
for-sale
$

54,772,165

3,280

194,000
675,479

-

481,479

54,093,406

(1,999,986 )
7,046
54,093,406

30,000
(188,432 )

(218,432 )

Retained
Earnings
$
56,274,778

The accompany notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Re-measurement of defined benefit asset
Total other comprehensive income

Profit for the year
Fair value loss on available-for- sale
financial assets

Balance at January 1, 2014
Comprehensive income

Dividends relating to 2012
Transfer to retained earnings
Balance at December 31, 2013

Loss for the year
Fair value loss on available-for- sale
financial assets
Re-measurement defined benefit asset
Total other comprehensive income

Balance at January 1, 2013

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2014
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

75,185,378

-

194,000
347,269

(328,210 )

481,479

74,838,109

(1,999,986 )
74,838,109

(72,220 )
30,000
(260,652 )

(218,432 )

77,098,747

Total
Equity
$
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1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2014
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Impairment losses on investments
Impairment losses on loans and advances
Defined benefit costs
Dividend income
Interest and similar income
Interest expense and similar charges
Cash flow before changes in operating assets
and liabilities
Increase in mandatory reserve deposits with Central
Bank
Decrease in loans and advances to financial
institutions
Increase in loans and advances to customers
Decrease/(increase) in other assets
Increase in due to customers
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities
Cash from/(used in) operations
Interest and similar income received
Interest expense and similar charges paid
Income taxes paid
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of treasury bills, net
Purchase of investment securities
Proceeds from sale of investment securities
Dividends received
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid on ordinary shares
Defined benefit contributions paid
Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

13, 14
24
28
19
24
23
23

2014
$

2013
$

1,440,255

365,530

1,568,027
9,829,275
67,000
(145,747 )
(34,796,332 )
14,054,528

1,502,921
20,078
109,083
9,351,102
62,000
(100,356 )
(32,759,136 )
13,736,717

(7,982,994 )

(7,712,061 )

(1,305,525 )

(1,565,430 )

5,886,129
(29,734,641 )
4,435,526
38,158,733
1,343,981

1,665,053
(21,896,243 )
(1,565,215 )
29,490,061
(1,132,669 )

8,054,370
(14,977,041 )
13,828,573
145,747
(1,937,371 )
(294,504 )
4,819,774

3,661,000
(11,206,072 )
8,747,203
100,356
(2,359,963 )
(403,437 )
(1,460,913 )

(36,671 )
(181,000 )
(217,671 )
33,661,532
35,972,061
69,633,593

(1,908,129 )
(185,000 )
(2,093,129 )
13,470,247
22,501,814
35,972,061

10,801,209
32,998,513
(14,296,957 )
(443,336 )
29,059,429

13
14

19

15

The accompany notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(2,716,504 )
33,916,776
(13,171,974 )
(1,004,009 )
17,024,289

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2014
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

1

Reporting entity
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited, (the Bank) was incorporated in Saint Lucia in December
1937 and continued under the Companies Act of 1996. The Bank is subject to the provisions of
the Banking Act of Saint Lucia No. 34 of 2006 and the Companies Act of 1996. It commenced
trading in January 1938 and provides retail banking services including the acceptance of deposits,
granting of loans, the provision of foreign exchange services, commercial banking services and
electronic banking services.
The Bank has six branches and one Bureau De Change as at December 31, 2014. The registered
office and principal place of business of the Bank is #21 Bridge Street, Castries, Saint Lucia.

2

Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on
Insert date.

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statement have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the following
material items in the balance sheet that are measured at fair value:
• available-for-sale financial assets.
• land and buildings measured at revalued amounts
• Net defined benefit asset, which is measured at the fair value of plan assets less the
present value of the defined benefit obligation, as explained in Note 19.

(c) Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean dollars, which is the Bank’s
functional currency. All financial information presented in Eastern Caribbean dollars has been
rounded to the nearest dollar, except when otherwise indicated.

(d) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Bank’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements
are disclosed in Note 5.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected. Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in
the financial statements are included in Note 5.
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1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2014
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

2

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

(e) Adoption of new accounting standards or amendments to standards

Except for changes below, the Bank has consistently applied the accounting policies to all periods
presented in these financial statements.

The Bank has adopted the following new standards and amendments to standards, including any
consequential amendments to other standards with a date of initial application of January 1, 2014.
(i)

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IAS32).

(ii) IFRIC 21 Levies

The changes above had no financial impact on the Bank’s financial statements.
f)

New standards, and interpretations of and amendments to existing standards that are not
yet effective

Improvements to IFRS 2010-2012 and 2011-2013 cycles contain amendments to certain standards
and interpretations and are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014. The
main amendments applicable to the Bank are as follows:

•

•

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement is amended to clarify that issuing of the standard,
and consequential amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 9, did not intend to prevent entities
from measuring short-term receivables and payables that have no stated interest rate at
their invoiced amounts without discounting, if the effect of not discounting is
immaterial.
IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38, Intangible Assets. The standards
have been amended to clarify that, at the date of revaluation:
(i)

•

42

the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the
revaluation of the carrying amount of the asset and the accumulated depreciation
(amortization) is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the carrying amount of the asset after taking account of accumulated
impairment losses or

(ii) the accumulated depreciation (amortization) is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset.

IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures has been amended to extend the definition of
‘related party’ to include a management entity that provides key management personnel
services to the reporting entity, either directly or through a group entity. For related
party transactions that arise when key management personnel services are provided to a
reporting entity, the reporting entity is required to separately disclose the amounts that
it has recognized as an expense for those services that are provided by a management
entity; however, it is not required to ‘look through’ the management entity and disclose
compensation paid by the management entity to the individuals providing the key
management personnel services.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2014
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

2

f)

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

New standards, and interpretations of and amendments to existing standards that are not
yet effective (Cont’d)

•

IAS 40, Investment Property has been amended to clarify that an entity should assess
whether an acquired property is an investment property under IAS 40 and perform a
separate assessment under IFRS 3 to determine whether the acquisition of the
investment property constitutes a business combination.
The Bank has not yet assessed the impact that these standards will have on its 2016 financial
statements.

•

•

IFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations has been
amended to clarify that if an entity changes the method of disposal of an asset or
disposal group – i.e. reclassifies an asset or disposal group from held-for-distribution to
owners to held-for-sale or vice versa without any time lag, then the change in
classification is considered a continuation of the original plan of disposal and the entity
continues to apply held-for-distribution or held-for-sale accounting. At the time of the
change in method, the entity measures the carrying amount of the asset or disposal
group and recognizes any write-down (impairment loss) or subsequent increase in the
fair value less costs to sell/distribute of the asset or disposal group. If an entity
determines that an asset or disposal group no longer meets the criteria to be classified
as held-for-distribution, then it ceases held-for-distribution accounting in the same way
as it would cease held-for-sale accounting.

IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, has been amended to clarify when
servicing arrangements are in the scope of its disclosure requirements on continuing
involvement in transferred assets in cases when they are derecognized in their entirety.
A servicer is deemed to have continuing involvement if it has an interest in the future
performance of the transferred asset e.g. if the servicing fee is dependent on the amount
or timing of the cash flows collected from the transferred financial asset; however, the
collection and remittance of cash flows from the transferred asset to the transferee is
not, in itself, sufficient to be considered ‘continuing involvement’.

•

IFRS 7 has also been amended to clarify that the additional disclosures required by
Disclosures: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to
IFRS 7) are not specifically required for inclusion in condensed interim financial
statements for all interim periods; however, they are required if the general
requirements of IAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, require their inclusion.

•

IAS 19, Employee Benefits, has been amended to clarify that high-quality corporate
bonds or government bonds used in determining the discount rate should be issued in
the same currency in which the benefits are to be paid. Consequently, the depth of the
market for high-quality corporate bonds should be assessed at the currency level and
not the country level.

The Bank will assess the impact that these amendments will have on its 2016 financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2014
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

2.
f)

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)
New standards, and interpretations of and amendments to existing standards that are not
yet effective (Cont’d)

•

•

•

Amendments to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and IAS 41, Biological
Assets, which are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1,
2016, require a bearer plant, defined as a living plant, to be accounted for as property,
plant and equipment and included in the scope of IAS 16 instead of IAS 41. Therefore,
a company can elect to measure bearer plants at cost. However, the produce growing
on bearer plants will continue to be measured at fair value less costs to sell under IAS
41. The Bank will assess the impact that these amendments will have on its 2016
financial statements.
Amendments to IAS 19, Defined Benefits Plans: Employee Contributions, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014, clarified the requirements that relate
to how contributions from employees or third parties that are linked to services should
be attributed to periods of services. In addition, it permits a practical expedient if the
amount of the contributions is independent of the number of years of services.
The Bank will assess the impact that the amendment will have on its 2015 financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38, Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation, are effective for accounting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2016.

•
•

The amendment to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment explicitly state that
revenue-based methods of depreciation cannot be used. This is because such
methods reflect factors other than the consumption of economic benefits embodied
in the assets.
The amendment to IAS 38, Intangible Assets introduce a rebuttable presumption
that the use of revenue-based amortisation methods is in appropriate for intangible
assets.

The Bank will assess the impact that these amendments will have on its 2016 financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2014
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

2.
f)

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)
New standards, and interpretations of and amendments to existing standards that are not
yet effective (Cont’d)

•

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes revised
guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities,
including a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment of financial
assets and the new general hedge accounting requirements. It also carries forward the
guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39.
Although the permissible measurement bases for financial assets – amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value though profit or
loss (FVTPL) - are similar to IAS 39, the criteria for classification into the appropriate
measurement category are significantly different. IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’
model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ model, which means that a loss event
will no longer need to occur before an impairment allowance is recognized. The Bank
will assess the impact that the standard will have on its 2018 financial statements.

•

IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers is effective for periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2017. It replaces IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue,
IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction
of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers and SIC-31 Revenue –
Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. The new standard applies to
contracts with customers. However, it does not apply to insurance contracts, financial
instruments or lease contracts, which fall in the scope of other IFRSs. It also does not
apply if two companies in the same line of business exchange non-monetary assets to
facilitate sales to other parties. Furthermore, if a contract with a customer is partly in
the scope of another IFRS, then the guidance on separation and measurement contained
in the other IFRS takes precedence.
The Bank will assess the impact that the standards will have on its 2017 financial
statements.
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g)

Early adoption of standards

3

Significant accounting policies

The Bank did not early-adopt any new or amended standards in 2014.
The accounting policies set out below have been consistently applied to all periods presented in
these financial statements, and have been applied consistently by the Bank, unless otherwise stated.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2014
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

3.

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in Eastern
Caribbean dollars, which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency.

(b) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are
translated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange
differences arising on translation are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to the
functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the values were determined.
(c) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less
than three months maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash and non-restricted balances with
the Central Bank and deposits with other banks.
(d) Sale and repurchase agreements
Securities purchased under agreements to resell (‘reverse repos’) are recorded as loans and advances to
financial institutions or customers, as appropriate. The difference between sale and repurchase price is
treated as interest and accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective interest method.
(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities
(i) Recognition
The Bank initially recognizes loans and advances, deposits and subordinated liabilities on the date that
they are originated. The Bank uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when recording
financial asset transactions. Financial assets that are transferred to a third party but do not qualify for
de-recognition are presented in the balance sheet as “Assets pledged as collateral”, if the transferee
has the right to sell or re-pledge them. All other financial assets and liabilities are recognised initially
on the trade date, which is the date that the Bank becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

A financial asset or liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through
the profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.

(ii) Classification

Financial assets

The Bank classifies its financial assets in one of the following categories:
•

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market, other than: (a) those that the entity intends to sell immediately or in
the short term, which are classified as held for trading, and those that the entity upon initial recognition
designates as at fair value through profit or loss;
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3.

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (Cont’d)
(ii) Classification (Cont’d)
• Loans and receivables (Cont’d)
(b) those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as available for sale; or (c) those
for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than
because of credit deterioration.

• Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities that the Bank’s management has the positive intention and
ability to hold to maturity, other than: (a) those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates
as at fair value through profit or loss; (b) those that the Bank designates as available for sale;
and (c) those that meet the definition of loans and receivables.
If the Bank were to sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity assets, the
entire category would be tainted and reclassified as available for sale.

• Available-for-sale
Available-for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite
period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest
rates, exchange rates or equity prices or that are not classified as loans and receivables,
held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

The Bank classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as
measured at amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss.
(iii) Derecognition

Financial assets

The Bank derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the financial assets expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets
are transferred or in which the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and it does not retain ownership of the financial asset. Any interest in such
transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Bank
is recognised as a separate asset or liability. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the
asset transferred), and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less
any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in
other comprehensive is recognized in profit or loss.

The Bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognized on its balance sheet,
but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a
portion of them. If all or substantially all risks and rewards are retained, then the transferred
assets are not derecognised.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(e)

Financial asserts and financial liabilities (Cont’d)

(iii) Derecognition (Cont’d)

Financial assets
Transfers of assets with retention of all or substantially all risks and rewards include, for
example, securities lending and repurchase transactions.

In transactions in which the Bank neither retains or transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Bank
continues to recognize the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by
the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.
Financial liabilities

The Bank derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged, cancelled or expire.
(iv) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet
when, and only when, the Bank has a legal right to set off the amounts and it intends either
to settle them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for
gains and losses arising from a Bank of similar transactions similar to the Bank’s trading
activities.

(v) Amortised cost measurement

The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset
or liability is measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between the
initial amount recognized and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.

(vi) Fair value measurement
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction on the measurement
date.
When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in
an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available, and represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions
on an arm’s length basis.

If a market for a financial asset is not active, the Bank establishes fair value using a valuation
technique as disclosed in Note 5. Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length
transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties (if available), reference to the current
fair value of other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analyses,
and option pricing models.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(e)

Financial asserts and financial liabilities (Cont’d)

(vii) Identification and measurement of impairment

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets
not carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired. A financial asset or a bank of financial
assets is impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset(s), and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of
the assets that can be reliably estimated.
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include:
1.
2.
3.
3.
4.
5.

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
default or delinquency by a borrower;
restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not
otherwise consider;
indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy;
the disappearance of an active market for a security; or
other observable data relating to a Bank of assets such as
-adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the Bank; or
-economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the Bank.

In addition, for an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair
value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment. In general, the Bank considers a decline
of 20% to be significant and a period of nine (9) months to be prolonged.

The Bank considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances and held-to-maturity investment securities both at a specific assets and collective level. All individually significant loans and
advances and held-to-maturity investments are assessed for specific impairment. Those not found
to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been
incurred but not yet identified. Loans and advances and held-to-maturity investment securities that
are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together
loans and advances and held-to-maturity investment securities with similar risk characteristics.
In assessing collective impairment, the Bank uses statistical modeling of historical trends of the
probability of default, the timing of recoveries, and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for
management’s judgment as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the
actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends. Default rates, loss
rates and the expected timing of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against actual
outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate.
Impairment losses on assets measured at amortised cost are calculated as the difference between
the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate.
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3.
(e)

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Financial asserts and financial liabilities (Cont’d)

(vii) Identification and measurement of impairment (Cont’d)
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is
replaced with a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made
whether the financial assets should be derecognized. If the cash flows of the renegotiated assets
are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial
asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognized and the
new financial asset is recognized at fair value. The impairment loss is measured as follows:
•

If the expected restructuring does not result in de-recognition of the existing asset, the
estimated cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in the measure
ment of the existing asset based on their expected timing and the amounts are discounted at
the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset.

•

If the expected restructuring does results in de-recognition of the existing asset, then the
expected fair value of the new assets is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial
asset at the time of its de-recognition. This amount is discounted from the expected date of
de-recognition to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the existing
financial asset.

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against
loans and advances or held-to-maturity investment securities. Interest on the impaired assets
continues to be recognized through the unwinding of the discount. When an event occurring after
the impairment was recognized causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognized by reclassifying the
losses accumulated in the fair value reserve in equity to profit or loss. The cumulative loss that is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any
principal repayment and amortization, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss recognized
previously in profit or loss. However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired
available-for-sale equity security is recognized in other comprehensive income.
The Bank writes off certain loans and advances and investment securities when they are determined
to be uncollectible.
Loans that are either subject to collective impairment assessment or individually significant and
whose terms have been renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due but are treated as new
loans. In subsequent years, the asset is considered to be past due and disclosed only if renegotiated.
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(f)

Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)
Property, plant and equipment
(i) Recognition and measurement
Land and buildings comprise mainly branches and offices. Land and buildings are shown at
fair value, based on valuations by external independent valuers done every 5 years, less
subsequent depreciation for buildings. Any accumulated depreciation is eliminated against
the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount
of the asset. All other assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. The cost of
self constructed assets includes:
• the cost of materials and direct labour;
• any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its
intended use;
• when the Bank has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are
located; and
• capitalised borrowing costs.
When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment.
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property and equipment
and are recognized net within other income in profit or loss.
(ii) Subsequent costs
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
(iii)Depreciation
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method for
buildings and the reducing balance method for all other property, plant and equipment to
allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:
Buildings
Furniture and fixtures
Equipment
Motor vehicles

2%
10%
15%
20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(g) Intangible assets
Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable intangible items arising from computer software
licenses and other intangible assets. Intangible assets are recognized at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets with a definite useful life
are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful economic life, generally
not exceeding 4 years. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortized. Generally,
the identified intangible assets of the Bank have a definite useful life.
At each balance sheet date intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or changes
in estimated future economic benefits. If such indications exist, the intangible assets are analyzed
to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized if
the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The Bank chooses to use the cost model for
the measurement after recognition. Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are annually tested
for impairment and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired, the intangible
asset is analyzed to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable.
Computer software licenses
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire
and bring the specific software to use. These costs are amortized on the basis of the expected
useful lives. Software has a maximum expected useful life between 4 years (25%).
(h) Guarantees and letters of credit
Guarantees and letters of credit comprise undertakings by the Bank to pay bills of exchange
drawn on customers. The Bank expects most guarantees and letters of credit to be settled
simultaneously with the reimbursement from the customers.
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value on the date
the guarantee was given. The fair value of a financial guarantee at the time of signature is zero
because all guarantees are agreed on arm’s length terms and the value of the premium agreed
corresponds to the value of the guarantee obligation. No receivable for the future premiums is
recognised. Subsequent to initial recognition, the bank’s liabilities under such guarantees are
measured at the higher of the initial amount, less amortisation of fees recognised in accordance
with IAS 18, and the best estimate of the amount required to settle the guarantee. These estimates
are determined based on experience of similar transactions and history of past losses,
supplemented by the judgement of management. The fee income earned is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees
is reported in profit or loss within other operating expenses.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(h) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when:

•
•
•

the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
(i)

Employee benefits
(i) Pension obligation
The Bank operates a defined benefit plan for all employees. The assets of the plan are held
separately. The pension plan is funded through payments from employees and the Bank, taking
account of the recommendations of independent qualified actuaries. The Bank’s net obligation
in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting
the fair value of any plan assets.
The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary
using the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the
Bank, the recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the
form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To
calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable
minimum funding requirements.
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses,
the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any,
excluding interest), are recognised immediately in OCI. The Bank determines the net interest
expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the
discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual
period to the then-net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the
net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit
payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are
recognised in personnel expenses in profit or loss.
When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in
benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately
in profit or loss. The Bank recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit
plan when the settlement occurs.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(i)

Employee benefits (Cont’d)
(ii) Profit-sharing and bonus plans
The Bank recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a
formula that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Bank’s shareholders after
certain adjustments. The Bank recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where
there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

(j)

Income tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. The principal temporary
differences arise from depreciation of property, plant and equipment. If the deferred income tax
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss,
it is not accounted for.
Deferred tax assets are recognised where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Income tax payable on profits, based on the applicable tax law is recognised as an expense in the
period in which profits arise. The tax effects of income tax losses available for carry forward are
recognised as an asset when it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which these losses can be utilised.

(k) Share capital
(i)

Share issue costs
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a
deduction from the proceeds.

(ii) Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are
approved by the shareholders. Dividends for the year declared after the balance sheet date are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(l)

Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense for all interest bearing financial instruments are recognised within
“interest income” and “interest expense” in profit or loss using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the
effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the
financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses.
The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or
discounts.
Once a financial asset or a Bank of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an
impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

(m) Fee and commission income
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been
provided. Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together
with related direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan.
Performance linked fees or fee components are recognised when the performance criteria are
fulfilled.
(n) Dividend income
Dividends are recognised in profit or loss when the Bank’s right to receive payment is established.
(n) Leases
(i)

The Bank is the lessee
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease.

(ii) The Bank is the lessor
When assets are leased out under an operating lease, the assets are included in the balance
sheet based on the nature of the assets. Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease
on a straight line basis.
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4

Financial risk management
The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the
analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks.
Taking risk is core to retail banking, and operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being
in business. The Bank’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return
and minimise potential adverse effects on the Bank’s financial performance.
The Bank’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of
reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Bank regularly reviews its risk management
policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice.
Risk management is carried out mainly by the Finance Department under policies approved by the
Board of Directors. Management identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-operation with
the Bank’s operating units. The Board provides oversight for overall risk management, as well as
written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit
risk. In addition, internal audit is responsible for the independent review of risk management and
the control environment.
The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other operational risk.
Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risk.

4.1 Credit risk
The Bank is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial loss
for the Bank by failing to discharge their contractual obligation to the Bank. Significant changes
in the economy, or in the health of a particular industry segment that represents a concentration in
the Bank’s portfolio, could result in losses that are different from those provided for at the balance
sheet date. Credit exposures arise principally in lending activities that lead to loans and advances,
and investment activities that bring debt securities and other bills into the Bank’s asset portfolio.
There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet financial instruments such as loan commitments.
Credit risk is managed and controlled by management who reports to the Board of Directors.
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4

Financial risk management (Cont’d)

4.1.1 Credit risk measurement

(a) Loans and advances
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank’s prudential guidelines are embedded in the Bank’s daily
operational management. The operational measurements can be contrasted with impairment
allowances required under IAS 39, which are based on losses that have been incurred at the
balance sheet date (the “incurred loss model”).
The Bank assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using the Eastern
Caribbean Central Bank prudential guidelines. Clients of the Bank are segmented into five rating
classes. The Bank’s rating scale, which is shown below, reflects the range of default probabilities
defined for each rating class.
Bank’s rating

Description of the grade

1
2
3
4
5

Pass
Special Mention
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

This means that, in principle, exposures migrate between classes as the assessment of their
probability of default changes. The Bank regularly validates the performance of the rating and
their predictive power with regard to default events.
(b) Debt securities and other bills
For debt securities and other bills, external ratings such as Caricris or their equivalents are used by
management for management of the credit risk exposures.
4.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Bank manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified −
in particular, to individual counterparties and groups, and to industries.
The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk
accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to the industry segments. Such
risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review by the
Board of Directors.
The exposure to any one borrower including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits
covering on- and off-balance sheet exposures, and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading
items. Actual exposures against limits are monitored daily.
Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and
potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these
lending limits where appropriate.
Some other specific control and mitigation measures are outlined below.
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Financial risk management (Cont’d)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont’d)

4.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies (Cont’d)

(a) Collateral
The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of
these is the taking of security for funds advanced, which is common practice. The Bank
implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation.
The principal collateral types for loans and advances are:
• Mortgages over residential properties;
• Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable; and
• Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities.
Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured while revolving
individual credit facilities are generally unsecured. In addition, in order to minimize the credit loss,
the Bank will seek additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are
noticed for the relevant individual loans and advances.
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances is determined by the
nature of the instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.

(b) Credit-related commitments
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as
required. Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary
and commercial letters of credit (which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a
customer authorising a third party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under
specific terms and conditions) are collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which
they relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct loan.
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the
form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend
credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments.
However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most
commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards.
The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments
generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.
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Financial risk management (Cont’d)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont’d)

4.1.3 Impairment and provisioning policies

The impairment provision shown in the balance sheet at year-end is derived from each of the five
internal rating grades. The table below shows the percentage of the Bank’s on-balance sheet items
relating to loans and advances and the associated impairment provision for each of the Bank’s
internal rating categories:
2014
Loans and Impairment
advances
provision
(%)
(%)
Bank’s rating
1. Pass
2. Special mention
3. Sub-standard
4. Doubtful
5. Loss

76.7%
3.1%
13.8%
4.7%
1.7%

12.4%
2.7%
39.4%
28.9%
16.7%

2013
Loans and Impairment
advances
provision
(%)
(%)
77.7%
2.3%
12.1%
6.0%
1.9%

5.6%
2.0%
30.4%
42.7%
19.3%

The internal rating tool assists management to determine whether objective evidence of
impairment exists, based on the following criteria set out by the Bank:

•
•
•
•
•
•

Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;
Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (e.g. equity ratio, net income percentage of
sales);
Breach of loan covenants or conditions;
Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;
Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position; and
Deterioration in the value of collateral.

The Bank’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality
thresholds at least annually or more regularly when individual circumstances require. Impairment
allowances on individually assessed accounts are determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss
at balance-sheet date on a case-by-case basis, and are applied to all individually significant
accounts. The assessment normally encompasses collateral held (including re-confirmation of its
enforceability) and the anticipated receipts for that individual account.
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Financial risk management (Cont’d)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont’d)

4.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets are as follows:
Maximum exposure
2014
$

Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers:
− Overdraft
− Demand loans
− Promissory notes
− Mortgages
− Credit cards
Investments securities:
− available for sale – debt securities
− held to maturity
Other assets

2013
$

58,981,698
7,211,052
16,306,757

28,343,891
15,628,748
22,401,929

16,519,020
186,399,332
3,755,115
171,306,272
1,801,196

19,371,393
171,853,985
3,736,567
161,349,501
1,280,771

10,800,543
18,517,218
1,741,121
493,339,324

7,591,262
20,677,754
6,057,246
458,293,047

585,501
17,790,035
18,375,537

500,481
28,905,897
29,406,378

511,714,860

487,699,425

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet
items are as follows:
Financial guarantees
Loan commitments and other credit related facilities
At December 31

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank at December
31, 2014 and 2013, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements
attached. For on-balance-sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying
amounts as reported in the balance sheet.
Loans and advances to customers and financial institutions comprise 80% of the total maximum
exposure (2013 - 83%); 6% represents investments in debt securities (2013 - 7%).
Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit
risk to the Bank resulting from both its loan and advances portfolio based on the following:
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4.

Financial risk management (Cont’d)

4.1 Credit risk (cont’d)

4.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements

(Cont’d)

•

76% of the loans and advances portfolio is categorised in the top two grades of the internal
rating system (2013 - 80%);

•

Demand loans which represent the largest percentage of the portfolio, followed by mortgage
loans, are backed by collateral;

•

61% of the net loans and advances portfolio are considered to be neither past due nor
impaired (2013 - 63%);

•

The Bank continues to grant loans and advances in accordance with its lending policies and
guidelines; and

•

3% of investments are rated above A- (2013 - 5%) and 56% are rated above BBB (2013 –
60%). Many issuers are not graded and consequently 41% of investments are not rated,
compared to 36% in the previous year.

4.1.5 Loans and advances

Loans and advances are summarised as follows:
Loans and advances to customers
Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Impaired

2014
$

2013
$

230,506,639
81,601,348
97,839,752

223,639,856
83,525,093
76,774,833

Gross

409,947,739

383,939,782

Less: allowance for impairment (Notes 10 and 11)

(30,16 6,804 )

(26,347,565 )

Net

379,780,935

357,592,217

16,306,757

22,401,929

Loans and advances to financial institutions
Neither past due nor impaired (Note 9)
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Financial risk management (Cont’d)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont’d)

4.1.5 Loans and advances (Cont’d)

(a) Loans and advances neither past due or impaired
The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can
be assessed by reference to the internal rating system adopted by the Bank.

December 31, 2014

Overdrafts
$

Credit
card
$

Demand Promissory
loans
notes
$
$

Mortgages
$

Total Loans
and advances
to customers
$

Loans and advances
to customers
Grades
1. Pass
2. Special mention
3. Sub-standard
4. Doubtful
5. Loss

16,309,516
165,844
209,733
–
–

1,567,571 108,038,676 3,006,734
–
468,819
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

99,364,579
1,375,167
–
–
–

228,287,076
2,009,830
209,733
–
–

Total

16,685,093

1,567,571 108,507,495 3,006,734

100,739,746

230,506,639

Demand Promissory
loans
notes
$
$

Mortgages
$

Total Loans
and advances
to customers
$

Overdrafts
$

Credit
card
$

December 31, 2013
Loans and advances
to customers
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Grades
1. Pass
2. Special mention
3. Sub-standard
4. Doubtful
5. Loss

18,734,938
218,200
499,765
–
–

633,352 104,290,832 2,658,875
–
477,648
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

95,491,478
634,768
–
–
–

221,809,475
1,330,616
499,765
–
–

Total

19,452,903

633,352 104,768,480 2,658,875

96,126,246

223,639,856
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4.

Financial risk management (Cont’d)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont’d)

4.1.5 Loans and advances (Cont’d)

Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to financial institutions were graded 1 (Pass) as at December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013.
(b) Loans and advances past due but not impaired
Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired, unless other information
is available to indicate the contrary. Gross amount of loans and advances by class to customers net
of unearned interest that were past due but not impaired were as follows:

December 31, 2014
Past due up to 30 days
Past due 30-60 days
Past due 60-90 days
Past due over 90 days
Total
Fair value of collateral

December 31, 2013
Past due up to 30 days
Past due 30-60 days
Past due 60-90 days
Past due over 90 days
Total
Fair value of collateral

Credit
cards
$

Demand
loans
$

Promissory
notes
$

Mortgages
$

Total Loans
and advances
to customers
$

171,264
10,197
52,163
233,624
–

39,137,600
3,757,195
2,191,557
–
45,086,352
101,987,264

407,129
92,632
26,364
–
526,125
4,747,016

24,649,490
4,773,530
6,332,227
–
35,755,247
91,839,251

64,194,219
8,794,621
8,560,345
52,163
81,601,348
198,573,531

Credit
cards
$

Demand
loans
$

Promissory
notes
$

Mortgages
$

Total Loans
and advances
to customers
$

414,742
133,390
43,822
55,465
647,419
–

17,546,289
11,630,714
5,652,519
5,851,410
40,680,932
120,181,824

773,621
68,275
19,396
22,778
884,070
2,990,736

33,849,804
1,659,039
3,114,913
2,688,916
41,312,672
93,045,837

52,584,456
13,491,418
8,830,650
8,618,569
83,525,093
216,218,397

Upon initial recognition of loans and advances, the fair value of collateral is based on valuation
techniques commonly used for the corresponding assets. In subsequent periods, the fair value is
updated by reference to market price or indexes of similar assets. There were no overdrafts past due
but not impaired.
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4.

Financial risk management (Cont’d)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont’d)

4.1.5Loans and advances (Cont’d)

Loans and advances to financial institutions (Cont’d)
(c) Loans and advances individually impaired
The table below shows the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances to customers
by grades before taking into consideration the cash flows from collateral held.
2014
$

2013
$

Grades:
1. Pass
2. Special mention
3. Sub-standard
4. Doubtful
5. Loss

4,612,116
10,770,258
56,345,692
19,359,584
6,752,102

732,179
280,619
46,058,645
23,005,553
6,697,837

Total

97,839,752

76,774,833

157,946,994

121,185,833

Individually impaired loans

Fair value of collateral
(d) Loans and advances renegotiated

Restructuring activities include extended payment arrangements, approved external management
plans, modification and deferral of payments. Following restructuring, a previously overdue
customer account is reset to a normal status and managed together with other similar accounts.
Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgment of
local management, indicate that payment will most likely continue. These policies are kept under
continuous review. Restructuring is most commonly applied to term loans, in particular customer
finance loans. Renegotiated loans that would otherwise be past due or impaired as at December 31,
2014 amounted to $44,936,282 (2013-$23,009,388).
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4.

Financial risk management (Cont’d)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont’d)

4.1.6 Debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills

The table below presents an analysis of debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills by
rating agency designation at December 31, 2014 and 2013, based on Caricris or their equivalent:
At December 31, 2014

AA- to AA+
BBB- to BBB+
CariA
CariBBB
Unrated
Total
At December 31, 2013

Treasury
bills
$
–

Investment securities
Held-toAvailablematurity
for-sale
$
$

Total
$

–
–
7,211,052
–

–
–
302,919
10,114,356
8,099,943

679,767
3,233,478
–
–
6,887,298

679,767
3,233,478
302,919
17,325,408
14,987,241

7,211,052

18,517,218

10,800,543

36,528,813

Treasury
bills
$

Investment securities
Held-toAvailablematurity
for-sale
$
$

Total
$

AA- to AA+
CariBBB+
Unrated

–
15,628,748
–

2,032,220
10,643,926
8,001,608

–
–
7,591,262

2,032,220
26,272,674
15,592,870

Total

15,628,748

20,677,754

7,591,262

43,897,764

4.1.7 Repossessed collateral

During 2014, the Bank obtained assets by taking possession of collateral held as security, as
follows:
Nature of assets

Vehicles

Carrying
amount
$
457,000

Repossessed vehicles are sold as soon as practicable with the proceeds used to reduce the
outstanding indebtedness.
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Credit commitments

As at December 31, 2014

- Mortgages
Investment securities:
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Other assets

- Promissory notes

- Demand loans

- Credit cards

- Overdraft

–

240,386

11,447,898

–
–
–

944,593
8,299,299
982,276
85,699,151

1,153,759

1,695

10,164,848

–

127,596

–

Error! Not a–
–
valid link.
–

184,528

–

16,306,757

Loans and advances to customers:

–

–

Treasury bills
Loans and advances to
financial institutions

–

58,981,698

Manufacturing
$

Due from other banks

Financial
institutions
$

Professional
and other
Tourism Government
services
$
$
$

–

–

4,426,149

–

1,913,246

–

7,211,052

–

94,614

567,458

4,830,976 28,524,709

– 4,859,905
– 10,114,357
–
–

2,474,829

20,887

2,130,700

–

204,560

–

–

–

4,392,920

27,220,690

–
–
–

5,509,903

29,323

–
16,111,954

5,569,510

–

–

–

9,788,759

171,126,437

–
–
–

107,110,207

3,605,995

1,260,837
57,810,786

1,338,612

–

–

–

Personal
$

–

–

–

3,291,400

164,489,463

4,996,045
103,562
758,845

55,057,574

97,215

540,359
95,754,895

7,180,968

Other
industries
$

18,375,537

493,339,324

10,800,543
18,517,218
1,741,121

171,306,272

3,755,115

1,801,196
186,399,332

16,519,020

16,306,757

7,211,052

58,981,698

Total
$

The following table breaks down the Bank’s main credit exposure at their carrying amounts, as categorised by the industry sectors of our
counterparties.

(b) Industry sectors

The Bank operates primarily in Saint Lucia and the exposure to credit risk is concentrated in this area.

(a) Geographical sectors

4.1.8 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure

4.1 Credit risk (Cont’d)
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Credit commitments

As at December 31, 2013

Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial
institutions
Loans and advances to customers:
- Overdraft
- Credit cards
- Demand loans
- Promissory notes
- Mortgages
Investment securities:
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Other assets

(b) Industry sectors (Cont’d)

254,886
–
5,540,616
1,121,548
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
252,458
9,930,266
5,494,156

–

307,322

6,917,050

–

22,401,929

66,422,700

–
–

Manufacturing
$

28,343,891
–

Financial
institutions
$

521,594

4,632,044

–
–
–

303,280
–
1,522,281
32,598
2,773,885

–

–
–

-

32,965,805

4,027,627
10,643,926
–

1,454,106
–
1,211,398
–
–

–

–
15,628,748

–

–
–

Personal
$

–

–
–

Other
industries
$

–
–
–

3,311,177
103,562
563,090

7,591,262
20,677,754
6,057,246

19,371,393
1,280,771
171,853,985
3,736,567
161,349,501

22,401,929

28,343,891
15,628,748

Total
$

1,810,287

14,957,224 11,809,951

29,406,378

64,533,744 181,728,993 101,092,711 458,293,047

–
–
–

5,842,544
2,405,255 9,111,322
–
896,540
384,231
54,478,465 58,446,957 50,654,268
59,536
3,474,327
170,106
4,153,199 116,505,914 36,794,955

–

–
–

Professional
and other
Tourism Government
services
$
$
$

4.1.8 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure (Cont’d)

4.1 Credit risk (cont’d)
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4.

Financial risk management (Cont’d)

4.2 Market risk

The Bank takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks
arise from open positions in interest rate and equity products, all of which are exposed to general
and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices
such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Bank’s
exposures to market risks primarily arise from the interest rate management of the Bank’s retail
and commercial banking assets and liabilities and equity risks arising from the Bank’s availablefor-sale investments.
4.2.1 Price risk

The Bank is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by the Bank and
classified on the balance sheet as available for sale. To manage its price risk arising from
investments in equity securities, the Bank diversifies its portfolio.
At December 31, 2014, if equity securities prices had been 5% higher/lower with all variable
held constant comprehensive income for the year would have been $61,785 higher/lower (2013 $70,964 higher/lower) as a result of the increase/decrease in fair value of available for sale equity
securities.
4.2.2 Foreign exchange risk

The Bank takes on exposure to effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange
rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Board of Directors sets limits on the level of
exposure by currency and in total which are monitored daily. The Bank’s exposure to currency
risk is minimal since most of its assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are held in United
States dollars. The exchange rate of the Eastern Caribbean dollar (EC$) to the United States
dollar (US$) has been formally pegged at EC$2.70 = US$1.00 since 1976. The following table
summarises the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at December 31, 2014.
Included in the table are the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying amount, categorised by
currency.
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481,501,906 1,329,873 1,884,092
468,655,704
5,272,726
473,928,430

Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities
Total financial liabilities

–

18,375,537

Credit commitments

–
–
–

–

–

–

242,858 45,961,898 2,306,597

2,174_

–

_ 1,641,234

7,573,476 1,329,873

–
–
–

–
–
–

45,964,072 2,306,597

–
–

4,256,782

–
–
–

2,174
–

GBP

1,255,108 127,037
40,452,182 2,179,560

USD

1,641,234

Net on-balance sheet positions

–
–

–
–
–

Total financial assets

–
–
–

9,324,050
18,517,218
1,741,121

EURO

35,281,517
141,132
387,076
13,339,256 1,188,741 1,497,016
7,211,052
–
–
16,306,757
–
–
379,780,935
–
–

CAD

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Other assets

As at December 31, 2014

ECD

Concentration of currency risk – on and off balance sheet financial instruments

4.2.2 Foreign exchange risk (Cont’d)

4.2 Market risk (Cont’d)
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–

35,278

–
–
–

35,278

–
–
–

–
–
–

35,278

–

TTD

–

425,690

–
–
–

425,690

–
–
–

–
–
–

136,025
289,665

BD

18,375,537

57,875,670

470,299,112
5,272,726
475,571,838

533,447,508

13,580,832
18,517,218
1,741,121

37,327,895
58,981,698
7,211,052
16,306,757
379,780,935

TOTAL
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455,422,232
431,223,142
3,965,420
435,188,562
20,233,670
29,406,379

Total financial assets

Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities
Total financial liabilities

Net on-balance sheet positions

Credit commitments

As at December 31, 2013
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
30,734,684
Due from other banks
3,503,829
Treasury bills
5,244,638
Loans and advances to financial institutions 22,401,929
Loans and advances to customers
357,592,217
Investment securities
- available-for-sale
9,209,935
- held-to-maturity
20,677,754
Other assets
6,057,246

ECD

–

271,045

–
–
–

271,045

–

1,157,197
–
1,157,197

–

–

2,638,854 32,413,371

2,463
–
2,463

–
–
–

158,870

–

–

–

1,891,633 158,870

–
–
–

2,641,317 33,570,568 1,891,633

–

–
–

–
–

1,303,267
–

–
–
–

–

–
–
–

–

–

TTD

–
–

GBP

–
158,870
–
–

USD

604,646 1,209,903 180,659
2,036,671 20,673,288 1,710,974
–
10,384,110
–
–
–
–

EURO

124,778
146,267
–

CAD

Concentration of currency risk – on and off balance sheet financial instruments (Cont’d)

4.2.2 Foreign exchange risk (Cont’d)

4.2 Market risk (Cont’d)
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–

257,967

–
–
–

257,967

29,406,379

57,865,410

432,382,802
3,965,420
436,348,222

494,213,632

10,513,202
20,677,754
6,057,246

–
–
–

32,998,645
28,343,891
15,628,748
22,401,929
357,592,217

TOTAL

143,975
113,992
–
–

BD
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4

Financial risk management (Cont’d)

4.2 Market risk (Cont’d)
4.2.3 Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that
the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The
Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest
rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such
changes but may reduce losses in the event that unexpected movements arise.
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288,811,924
(216,795,647)

Total financial liabilities

Total interest repricing gap

–

288,811,924

Due to customers

Other liabilities

72,016,277

10,537,192
52,000
–

18,267,328

43,159,757
–

Total financial assets
Liabilities

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities:
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Other assets

As at December 31, 2014

Up to
1 month
$

–
7,398,273
–

–

(7,535,565) (86,876,806) 53,150,569

2,941,978

–

2,941,978

43,275,766 56,092,547

–
11,066,945
–

16,231,865 130,152,572

–

1-5
years
$

–
–
–
–
7,211,052
–
9,238,480
–
15,759,289 48,694,274

3-12
months
$

16,231,865 130,152,572

8,696,300

–
–
–

–
–
–
7,068,277
1,628,023

1-3
months
$

295,695,372

–

–

–

295,695,372

263,351
–
–

–
–
–
–
295,432,021

Over 5
years
$

470,299,112
5,272,726
475,571,838

5,272,726
37,433,499

530,667,219

10,800,543
18,517,218
1,741,121

37,327,895
58,981,698
7,211,052
16,306,757
379,780,935

Total
$

32,160,773

54,890,957

–
–
1,741,121

37,327,895
15,821,941
–
–
–

Noninterest
bearing
$

The table below summarizes the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying
amounts, categorized by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.

4.2.3 Interest rate risk

4.2 Market risk (Cont’d)
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266,071,376
(211,261,706)

Total financial liabilities

Total interest repricing gap

732,386

732,386
–

44,344,927

–
5,675,071
–

–
–
–
–
38,669,856

1-5
years
$

(2,682,619) (71,527,456) 43,612,541

24,275,307 108,243,408

24,275,307 108,243,408
–
–

36,715,952

–
11,026,416
–

266,071,376
–

–
2,032,220
–

7,291,922
52,000
–

–
–
5,202,719
8,175,088
12,311,729

21,592,691

–
–
10,426,029
4,607,184
4,527,258

–
20,920,353
–
9,619,656
16,925,739

3-12
months
$

54,809,670

1-3
months
$

Up to
1 month
$

Total financial assets
Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities

As at December 31, 2013
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities:
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Other assets

4 Financial risk management (Cont’d)
4.2 Market risk (Cont’d)
4.2.3 Interest rate risk (Cont’d)
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287,349,022

–

–
–

287,349,022

299,340
1,892,047
–

–
–
–
–
285,157,635

Over 5
years
$

37,025,745

33,060,325
3,965,420

46,479,429

–
–
6,057,246

32,998,645
7,423,538
–
–
–

Noninterest
bearing
$

436,348,222

432,382,802
3,965,420

491,291,691

7,591,262
20,677,754
6,057,246

32,998,645
28,343,891
15,628,748
22,401,928
357,592,217

Total
$
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Financial risk management (Cont’d)

4.2 Market risk (Cont’d)

4.2.3 Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

The Bank’s fair value interest rate risk arises from debt securities classified as available for sale. At
December 31, 2014 if market interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all
variables held constant, comprehensive income for the year would have been $608,486 higher/
$88,313 lower (2013 - $118,894 lower/$115,241 higher) as a result of the decrease/increase in fair
value of available for sale debt securities.
Cash flow interest rate risk arises from loans and advances to customers at variable rates. At
December 31, 2014 if variable interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been $2,278,675 higher/lower (2013
- $2,313,188 higher/lower), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income on variable rate
loans.
4.3 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will be unable to meet its payment obligations associated
with its financial liabilities when they fall due or upon demand
4.3.1 Liquidity risk management process

The Board of Directors establish the strategy and policy for the management of liquidity risk. The
Bank's liquidity is managed by the Finance Department. A significant proportion of the Bank’s
liabilities fall within the current category; however, the Bank maintains approximately 33% of
assets to manage any payment obligations as history has shown that the assets maintained to
manage these outflows is adequate. The key elements of the liquidity management process is as
follows:

74

•

Daily and weekly monitoring to ensure that requirements are met. This includes the
replenishment of funds as they mature or as borrowed by customers. The Bank ensures that
sufficient funds are held in the one to thirty day maturity bucket to satisfy liquidity
requirements.

•

Maintaining a portfolio of marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against
any unforeseen liquidity problems. Additionally, the investment portfolio is fairly diversified
by currency, geography, provider, product and term.

•

Weekly monitoring of the balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory
requirements.

•
•

Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.
Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed to maintain a wide diversification by currency,
geography, provider, product and term.
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Financial risk management (Cont’d)

4.3 Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

4.3.3 Non-derivative cash flows

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial
liabilities and assets held for managing liquidity risk by remaining contractual maturities at the
balance sheet date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash
flows; the Bank manages the inherent liquidity risk based on expected undiscounted cash inflows.

3-12
months
$

1-5
years
$

323,180,620 16,231,865

130,152,572

2,941,978

–

–

–

– 472,507,035
– 5,272,726

Total liabilities
(Contractual maturity dates)

328,453,346 16,231,865

130,152,572

2,941,978

– 477,779,761

Assets held for managing
liquidity risk
(Contractual maturity dates)

104,075,003

8,696,300

43,275,766

56,092,546

295,695,372 507,834,987

299,118,108 24,471,138
3,965,416
–

110,880,241
–

804,756
–

Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities

5,272,726

Over
5 years
$

Total
contractual
cash flows
$

1-3
months
$

As at December 31, 2014

Up to
1 month
$

As at December 31, 2013
Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities

–
–

435,274,243
3,965,416

–

Total liabilities
(Contractual maturity dates)

303,083,524 24,471,138

110,880,241

804,756

–

439,239,659

Assets held for managing
liquidity risk
(Contractual maturity dates)

79,494,810 31,119,206

62,259,045

44,344,928

287,367,892

504,585,881
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Financial risk management (Cont’d)

4.3 Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

4.3.4 Assets held for managing liquidity risk

Assets available to meet all of the liabilities and to cover outstanding loan commitments include
cash, central bank balances, items in the course of collection and treasury and other eligible bills;
loans and advances to financial institutions; and loans and advances to customers. In the normal
course of business, a proportion of customer loans contractually repayable within one year will be
extended. The Bank would also be able to meet unexpected net cash outflows by selling securities
and accessing additional funding sources.
4.3.5 Off-balance sheet items

(a) Loan commitments
The dates of the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that
commit it to extend credit to customers and other facilities (Note 34), are summarised in the table
below.
(b) Financial guarantees and other financial facilities
Financial guarantees (Note 34) are also included below based on the earliest contractual maturity
date.
Over
1 year
1-5 years
5 years
Total
$
$
$
$
As at December 31, 2014
Loan commitments
15,926,347
1,858,493
5,196
17,790,036
Guarantees, acceptances and
–
472,843
112,658
585,501
other financial facilities
Total

15,926,347

2,331,336

117,854

18,375,537

As at December 31, 2013
Loan commitments
Guarantees, acceptances and
other financial facilities

25,461,719

3,438,983

5,195

28,905,897

–

387,823

112,658

500,481

Total

25,461,719

3,826,806

117,853

29,406,378

4.4 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
(a) Financial instruments not measured at fair value
Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would currently be agreed upon
between knowledgeable willing parties who are under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced
by a quoted market value, if one exists. The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair value of financial instruments.
The fair values of cash resources, other assets and liabilities, cheques and other items in transit and
due to other banks are assumed to approximate their carrying values due to their short term nature.
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4.4 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (Cont’d)
(i) Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair values of loans and
advances represent the discounted amount of estimated future cash flow expected to be received.
Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rate to determine fair value.
(ii) Investment securities
Investment securities include only interest bearing assets held to maturity; assets classified as
available-for-sale are measured at fair value except for unlisted available-for-sale equity securities
which are carried at cost less impairment. The fair value of equity securities carried at cost less
impairment is not disclosed as it cannot be reliably estimated (Note 12). The fair value for held-tomaturity assets is based on market prices or broker/dealer price quotations. Where this
information is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for securities with
similar credit maturity and yield characteristics.
(iii) Due to customers
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing
deposits, is the amount repayable on demand. Deposits payable on a fixed date are at rates which
reflect market conditions and are assumed to have fair values which approximate carrying values.
The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and
liabilities not presented on the Bank’s balance sheet at their fair value:

Financial assets

Carrying value
2014
2013
$
$

Loans and advances to financial institutions 16,306,757
Due from other banks
58,981,698
Loans and advances to customers:
− Overdraft
16,519,020
− Demand loans
186,399,332
− Promissory notes
3,755,115
− Mortgages
171,306,272
− Credit cards
1,801,196
Investment securities
- Treasury bills
7,211,052
- Held to maturity
18,517,218
Financial liabilities
Due to customers:
− Time deposits
− Savings accounts
− Demand accounts

162,208,816
267,587,887
40,502,409

Fair value
2014
$

2013
$

22,401,929
28,343,891

16,306,757
58,981,698

22,401,929
28,343,891

19,371,393
171,853,985
3,736,567
161,349,501
1,280,771

16,519,020
190,034,011
4,070,833
170,025,168
1,801,196

19,371,393
173,019,005
4,051,604
163,334,414
1,280,771

15,628,748
20,677,754

7,211,052
17,598,544

15,628,748
19,838,380

151,936,870
238,855,651
41,590,287

159,107,701
267,587,887
40,502,409

149,165,989
238,855,651
41,590,287
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4.4 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (Cont’d)
(b) Fair value hierarchy
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those
valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data
obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions.
These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:
• Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This
level includes listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges.
• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).
• Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with
significant unobservable components.
This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Bank considers
relevant and observable market prices in its valuations where possible.
4.4.1 Assets measured at fair value

December 31, 2014

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

- Investment securities - debt
- Investment securities - equity

1,936,566
-

8,863,977
1,235,700

-

10,800,543
1,235,700

Total assets

1,936,566

10,099,677

-

12,036,243

- Investment securities - debt
- Investment securities - equity

-

7,591,262
1,419,280

-

7,591,262
1,419,280

Total assets

-

9,010,542

-

9,010,542

Available-for-sale financial assets

December 31, 2013
Available-for-sale financial assets
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4.4 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (Cont’d)
4.4.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The following table sets out the fair value instruments not measured at fair value and analyses
them by the level in fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement categorized.
December 31, 2014
Level 1
Assets

$

Level 2

$

Level 3

$

Total fair
values
$

Carrying
amounts
$

Cash and balances with Central Bank
Treasury bills
Due from other banks
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Held to maturity investments security

37,327,895
7,211,052
58,981,698
16,306,757
379,780,935
18,517,218

37,327,895
7,211,052
58,981,698
16,306,757
382,450,228
17,598,544

Liabilities
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities

470,299,112
5,272,726

- 467,197,997
5,272,726
-

470,299,112
5,272,726

Total fair
values

Total
Carrying
amounts

32,998,615
15,628,748
28,343,891
22,401,929
357,592,217
20,677,754

32,998,615
15,628,748
28,343,891
22,401,929
361,057,187
19,838,380

32,998,615
15,628,748
28,343,891
22,401,929
357,592,217
20,677,754

432,382,808
3,965,416

- 429,611,927
3,965,416

432,382,808
3,965,416

December 31, 2013
Level 1
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Treasury bills
Due from other banks
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Held to maturity investments security

Liabilities
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities

$

Level 2
$

Level 3

$

$

37,327,895
7,211,052
58,981,698
16,306,757
379,780,935
18,517,218

$
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4.4 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (Cont’d)
4.4.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Where available, the fair value of loans and advances is based on observable market transactions.
Where observable market transactions are not available fair value is estimated using valuation
models, such as discounted cash flow techniques. Input into the valuation techniques includes the
expected lifetime credit losses, interest rates, prepayment rates and primary origination or secondary
market spreads. For collateral-dependant impaired loans the fair value is measured based on the
underlying collateral. Input into the models may include data from third party brokers and
information obtained from other market participants, which includes observed primary and secondary
transactions. To improve the accuracy of the valuation estimates, loans are grouped into portfolios
with similar characteristics such as the quality of collateral, repayment and delinquency rates.
4.5 Capital management
The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the
face of balance sheets, are:

•
•
•

To comply with the capital requirements set by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank;
to safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Bank’s management,
employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the East Caribbean Central Bank (‘the
Authority’) for supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Authority on a
quarterly basis.
The Authority requires each bank or banking Bank to: (a) hold the minimum level of the regulatory
capital of $5,000,000 and (b) maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted asset
(the ‘Basel ratio’) at or above the minimum indicated in the prudential guidelines of 8%.
The Bank’s regulatory capital as managed by management is divided into two tiers:

•

Tier 1 capital: share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained
earnings.

•

Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances and
unrealised gains arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as available for sale.

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified
according to the nature of − and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated
with − each asset and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A
similar treatment is adopted for off-balance sheet exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the
more contingent nature of the potential losses.
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4.5 Capital management (Cont’d)

The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Bank for
the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. During those two years, the Bank complied with all
of the externally imposed capital requirements.
Tier 1 capital
Share capital
Statutory reserve
Retained earnings

2014
$

2013
$

7,971,454
7,971,454
54,772,165

7,971,454
7,971,454
54,093,406

Total qualifying Tier 1 capital

70,715,073

70,036,314

Tier 2 capital
Revaluation reserve – available-for-sale investments
Revaluation reserve – property, plant and equipment

742,680
3,727,625

1,070,890
3,730,905

Total qualifying Tier 2 capital

4,470,305

4,801,795

75,185,378

74,838,109

Risk-weighted assets:
On-balance sheet
Off-balance sheet

390,041,700
3,616,600

356,617,754
5,831,227

Total risk-weighted assets

393,658,300

362,448,981

Capital adequacy ratio

18%

19%

Basel ratio

19%

21%

Total regulatory capital

The capital adequacy ratio is calculated as total qualifying Tier 1 capital divided by total riskweighted assets. The Basel ratio is calculated as total regulatory capital divided by total riskweighted assets.
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Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Bank reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis. In
determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the Bank makes
judgement as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be
identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data
indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a Bank, or
local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the Bank. Management uses
estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and
objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash
flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of
future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and
actual loss experience. To the extent that the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by
+/-5%, the portfolio provision would be estimated to be $998,536 (2013 – 1,075,066)
lower/higher.
Assets accounted for at amortised cost are evaluated for impairment on a basis described in Note
3(e) (vii).
The specific component of the total allowances for impairment applies to financial assets
evaluated individually for impairment (those that have been outstanding for more than 90 days
and considered non-performing according to the guidelines of the regulators, the Eastern
Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB) and is based upon management’s best estimate of the present
value of the cash flows that are expected to be received. In estimating these cash flows,
management makes judgements about a debtor’s financial situation and the net realisable value of
any underlying collateral. Each impaired asset is assessed on its merit, and the workout strategy
and estimate of cash flows considered recoverable are independently approved by the credit risk
function.
A collective component of the total allowance is established for:

•
•

Groups of homogenous loans that are not considered individually significant; and
Groups of assets that are individually significant but that were not found to be individually
impaired (Incurred but not reported - IBNR).

Collective allowance for groups of homogenous loans is established using a formula approach
based on historic loss rate experience.
Collective impairment for groups of assets that are individually significant but that were not found
to be individually impaired (IBNR) cover credit losses inherent in portfolios of loans and
advances, and held-to-maturity investment securities with similar credit risk characteristics when
there is objective evidence to suggest that they contain impaired loans and advances, and held-tomaturity investment securities, but the individual impaired items cannot yet be identified.
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(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances (Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

In assessing the need for collective loss allowances, management considers factors such as credit
quality, portfolio size, concentrations and economic factors. In order to estimate the required
allowance, assumptions are made to define the way inherent losses are modelled and to determine
the required input parameters, based on historical experience and current economic conditions.
The accuracy of the allowances depends on the estimates of future cash flows for specific
counterparty allowances and the model assumptions and parameters used in determining
collective allowances.
Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments
The Bank determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is
significant or prolonged requires judgement. In making this judgment, the Bank evaluates among
other factors, when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the investee
industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flows.
During the year the Bank did not recognise impairment losses on available-for-sale equity
investments, (2013 -$ 109,083).
Held-to-maturity investments
The Bank follows the guidance of IAS 39 on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity. This classification requires
significant judgement. In making this judgement, the Bank evaluates its intention and ability to
hold such investments to maturity. If the Bank fails to keep these investments to maturity other
than for the specific circumstances – for example, selling an insignificant amount close to
maturity – it will reclassify the entire class as available-for-sale. The investments would therefore
be measured at fair value not amortised cost. If the entire held-to-maturity investments are tainted,
the carrying value would decrease by $918,674 (2013 - $839,373) with a corresponding entry in
the fair value reserve in comprehensive income.
Income taxes
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes including any
liabilities for tax audit issues. There are some transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Fair value
The determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities for which there is no observable
market price requires the use of valuation techniques as described in Note 3(i)(vi). For financial
instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less objective,
and requires varying degrees of judgment depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of
market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument.
The Bank’s accounting policy on fair value measurements is discussed in Note 4.4(b).
The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.

•

Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.

83

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2014
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
5

Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies (Cont’d)

(e) Fair value (Cont’d)

•

Level 2: valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: (a)
quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; (b) quoted prices for identical
or (c) similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active or other valuation
techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

•

Level 3: valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes
all instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data
and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This
category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments
where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences
between instruments.
Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are
based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations.

6

Cash and balances with Central Bank
2014
$

2013
$

Cash in hand

10,651,895

7,628,170

Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 15)

10,651,895

7,628,170

Mandatory reserve deposits with Central Bank

26,676,000

25,370,475

37,327,895

32,998,645

Pursuant to Section 17 of the Banking Act of St. Lucia No. 34 of 2006, the Bank is required to
maintain in cash and deposits with the Central Bank, reserve balances in relation to the deposit
liabilities of the institution.
Mandatory reserve deposits are not available for use in the Bank’s day-to-day operations. The
balances with the Central Bank are non-interest bearing.
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Due from other banks
2014
$

2013
$

Items in the course of collection from other
banks
Placements with other banks

3,186,222
55,795,476

2,879,210
25,464,681

Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 15)

58,981,698

28,343,891

The weighted average effective interest rate in respect of interest bearing deposits at December 31,
2014 was 0.12% (2013- 0.05%).
8

Treasury bills

Treasury bills

2014
$

2013
$

7,211,052

15,628,748

The Bank has invested in treasury bills issued by the Government of Saint Lucia. The weighted
average effective interest rate of the treasury bills in 2014 was 5.07% (2013 - 4.93%). All treasury
bills have fixed interest rates and they mature within one year of the end of the financial year.
9

Loans and advances to financial institutions

Reverse repos

2014
$

2013
$

16,306,757

22,401,929

Reverse repos are securities that have been purchased under agreements to resell. The weighted
average effective interest rate of the reverse repos in 2014 was 3.26% (2013 - 3.92%). Reverse
repos mature within one year.
Allowance account for losses on loans and advances to financial institutions as at December 31,
2014 and 2013 was nil.
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2014

2013

$
Overdraft
Demand loans
Promissory notes
Mortgages
Credit cards

Less provision for impairment of loans
and advances (Note 11)

Current
Non-current

$

16,685,093
206,972,718
4,245,247
180,243,485
1,801,196

19,452,903
191,721,691
4,385,081
167,099,336
1,280,771

409,947,739

383,939,782

(30,166,804)

(26,347,565)

379,780,935

357,592,217

35,654,640
344,126,295

33,764,726
323,827,491

379,780,935

357,592,217

The weighted average effective interest rate on productive loans stated at amortised cost at
December 31, 2014 was 8.63% (2013 - 8.84%) and productive overdraft stated at amortised cost
was 10.93% (2013 - 11.25%).
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Reconciliation of allowance account for losses on loans and advances by class is as follows:
Overdraft
$

Balance at January 1, 2014
Provision for loan impairment (Note 28)
Loans written off during the year
At December 31, 2014

81,510
84,562
166,072

Balance at January 1, 2013
Provision for loan impairment (Note 28)
Loans written off during the year
At December 31, 2013

2,299
79,211
81,510

Demand Promissory
loans
notes
$
$

19,862,606
6,323,511
(5,612,730 )
20,573,387

648,452
20,323
(178,643)
490,132

Mortgage
$

Total
$

5,754,997 26,347,565
3,400,879
9,829,275
(218,663 ) (6,010,036 )
8,937,213 30,166,804

15,742,895 1,040,675
4,528,481 21,314,350
6,701,015
(1,338 ) 2,572,214
9,351,102
(2,581,304 ) (390,885 ) (1,345,698) (4,317,887 )
19,862,606
648,452
5,754,997 26,347,565

The total impairment provision for loans and advances to customers is $30,166,804 (2013 $26,347,565) of which $24,604,051 (2013 - $22,547,385) represents the individually impaired
loans and the remaining amount of $5,562,753 (2013 - $3,800,180) represents the general
portfolio provision.
12 Investment securities

2014
$

2013
$

1,235,700

1,419,280

Available-for-sale
Equity securities – at fair value
- Listed
Equity securities – at cost
- Unlisted
Allowance for impairment
Debt securities – at fair value:
- Listed
- Unlisted
Allowance for impairment
Total securities: available-for-sale

3,595,064
(1,706,940)

3,209,600
(1,706,940)

9,411,501
1,239,271
(193,764)
13,580,832

5,845,280
1,939,746
(193,764)
10,513,202

Held-to-maturity
Debt securities - at amortised cost:
- Listed
- Unlisted
Total securities: held-to-maturity

10,417,275
8,099,943
18,517,218

12,676,146
8,001,608
20,677,754

17,881,270
14,216,780
32,098,050

23,324,498
7,866,458
31,190,956

Current
Non-current
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Unlisted available-for-sale equity securities totalling $1,888,124 (2013 - $1,502,660) are carried at
cost less impairment. The Bank is unable to reliably measure the fair value of the equity securities
since the shares are not traded in an active market and the future cash flows relating to the
securities cannot be reliably estimated.
All debt securities have fixed interest rates.
The weighted average effective interest rate on securities held-to-maturity stated at amortised cost
at December 31, 2014 was 5.75% (2013 - 5.97%).
The movements in available-for-sale and held-to-maturity financial assets during the year are as
follows:

At January 1, 2014
Additions
Disposals (sale and redemption)
Gain from changes in fair value
Allowance for non-performance (Note 28)
At December 31, 2014

Held-tomaturity
$

10,513,202

20,677,754

4,274,109
(878,269)
(328,210)
-

10,702,932
(12,863,469)
-

13,580,832

18,517,217

9,090,011

19,972,054

Additions
Disposals (sale and redemption)
Gain from changes in fair value
Allowance for non-performance (Note 28)

3,860,461
(2,255,967)
(72,220)
(109,083)

7,345,611
(6,639,911)
-

At December 31, 2013

10,513,202

20,677,754

At January 1, 2013
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Land and
Furniture
Building and Fixtures
$
$

Equipment
$

Motor
Vehicles
$

Work in
progress
$

Total
$
$

Year ended
December 31, 2013
Opening net book amount
Additions and transfers
Disposals and transfers
Depreciation on disposals
Depreciation charge (Note 25)

8,351,554
1,262,388
(3,525)
2,804
(457,692)

567,600
277,598
(8,346)
4,369
(76,994)

2,875,643
1,256,633
(40,996)
25,616
(654,027)

59,981
907,499
619,934
- (1,056,590)
–
(11,996)
–

12,762,277
3,416,553
(1,109,457)
32,789
(1,200,709)

Closing net book amount

9,155,529

764,227

3,462,869

47,985

470,843

13,901,453

12,948,582
(9,485,713)

86,000
(38,015)

470,843
–

25,968,115
(12,066,662)

At December 31, 2013
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

10,537,299
(1,381,770)

1,925,391
(1,161,164)

9,155,529

764,227

3,462,869

47,985

470,843

13,901,453

9,155,529
1,388,729
–

764,227
170,787
–

3,462,869
663,198
–

47,985
175,000
–

470,843
66,238
(526,581)

13,901,453
2,463,952
(526,581)

Year ended
December 31, 2014
Opening net book amount
Additions and transfers
Disposals and transfers
Depreciation on disposals
Depreciation charge (Note 25)
Closing net book amount

(445,923)
10,098,335

(80,228)
854,786

(711,298)

(44,597)

–

(1,282,046)

3,414,769

178,388

10,500

14,556,778

13,611,780
(10,197,011)

261,000
(82,612)

10,500
–

27,905,486
(13,348,708)

3,414,769

178,388

10,500

14,556,778

At December 31, 2014
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

11,926,028
(1,827,693)

Net book amount

10,098,335

2,096,178
(1,241,392)
854,786
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13 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
The historical cost of land and buildings are:

2014
$

Cost
Accumulated depreciation based on historical cost
Depreciated historical cost
Valuation techniques

Market based approach:
The approach is based on the
principle
of
substitution
whereby the purchaser with
perfect knowledge of the
property market pays no more
for the subject property than
the cost of acquiring an
existing comparable assuming
no cost delay in making the
substitution.
The
approach
requires
comparison of the subject
property with others of similar
design and utility, inter alia,
which were sold in the recent
past.
However as no two properties
are exactly alike, adjustment is
made for the difference
between the property subject to
valuation and comparable
properties.
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Significant unobservable
inputs

•

•

•

Details of the sales of
comparable properties
Conditions influencing
the
sale
of
the
comparable properties.
Comparability
adjustment.

2013
$

6,387,571
(3,182,877)

5,792,568
(3,170,977)

3,204,694

2,621,591

Inter-relationship between
key unobservable inputs and
fair value measurement
The estimated fair value would
increase/(decrease) if:

•

Sale value of comparable
properties
were
higher/(lower).

•

Comparability adjustment
were higher/(lower).
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14 Intangible assets

Year ended
December 31, 2013
Opening net book amount
Additions for the year
Amortization charge for the year
Closing net book amount
As at December 31, 2013
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount
Year ended
December 31, 2014
Opening book amount
Additions for the year
Amortization charge for the year
Closing net book amount
As at December 31, 2014
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Software
$
898,019
403,437
(302,212)
999,244
2,685,921
(1,686,677 )
999,244

999,244
294,504
(285,981)
1,007,767
2,980,425
(1,972,658)
1,007,767

15 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the
following balances with less than 3 months maturity:

Cash and balances with Central Bank (Note 6)
Due from other banks (Note 7)

2014
$

2013
$

10,651,895
58,981,698

7,628,170
28,343,891

69,633,593

35,972,061
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16 Other assets

Accounts receivable
Inventories of stationery and supplies
Prepayments

17 Due to customers

Time deposits
Savings accounts
Demand amounts

Current
Non-current

2014
$

2013
$

1,741,121
199,013
864,473

6,057,246
216,886
966,001

2,804,607

7,240,133

2014
$

2013
$

162,208,816
267,587,887
40,502,409

151,936,870
238,855,651
41,590,287

470,299,112

432,382,808

467,357,134
2,941,978

431,650,422
732,386

470,299,112

432,382,808

All deposits carry fixed interest rates.
The weighted average effective interest rate of customers’ deposits at December 31, 2014 was
3.17% (2013 3.35%).
18 Other liabilities

Manager’s cheques outstanding
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Dividends payable on ordinary shares
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2014
$

2013
$

2,190,597
2,428,680
653,449
5,272,726

1,991,606
1,283,690
690,120
3,965,416
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19 Defined benefit asset
Net Asset in Balance Sheet
The amount recognised in the balance sheet at December 31, 2014 is determined as follows:
2014
$
Present value of funded obligations
Fair value of plan assets
Net defined Benefit Asset
Movement in defined benefit obligations

Defined benefit obligation at start of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Members’ contributions
Experience adjustments
- Actuarial gains from changes in financial
assumptions
Benefits paid
Defined benefit obligation at end of year

3,817,000
(5,199,000)
(1,382,000)

2013
$
3,745,000
(4,819,000)
(1,074,000)

2014
$

2013
$

3,745,000
150,000
257,000
59,000
154,000

3,390,000
135,000
236,000
56,000
(53,000)

(398,000)
(150,000)
3,817,000

(19,000)
3,745,000

The defined benefit obligation is allocated between the Plan’s members as follows:
-

Active members
Deferred members
Pensioners

85%
10%
5%

84%
11%
5%

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the year end was 12.5 years.
99% of the benefits for active members are vested. 26% of the defined benefit obligation for
active members is conditional on future salary increases.
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19 Defined benefit asset (Continued)
Movement in fair value of plan assets
2014
$

2013
$

Fair value of Plan Assets at start of year
Interest income
Return on Plan Assets, excluding interest income
Bank’s contributions
Members’ contributions
Benefits paid

4,819,000
340,000
(50,000)
181,000
59,000
(150,000)

4,311,000
309,000
(23,000)
185,000
56,000
(19,000)

Fair value of Plan assets at end of year

5,199,000

4,819,000

290,000

286,000

2014
$

2013
$

4,814,000
385,000
5,199,000

4,242,000
577,000
4,819,000

Actual return on Plan Assets
Allocation of plan assets

Government issued nominal bonds
Cash and cash equivalents
Fair value of Plan assets at end of year

All asset values as at December 31, 2014 were provided by the Bank. The fair value of the
government bonds has been calculated on an amortised cost basis.
The Plan’s assets are invested in accordance with a strategy agreed with the Plan’s trustees which
is largely driven by the statutory constraints and asset availability. There are no asset-liability
matching strategies used by the Plan.
Expense Recognised in Profit or Loss

Current service cost
Net interest on net defined benefit asset
Net pension cost (Note 27)
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2014
$
150,000
(83,000)
67,000

2013
$
135,000
(73,000)
62,000
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19 Defined benefit asset (Continued)
Re-measurements recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

Experience (gains)/losses

2014
$
(194,000)

2013
$
(30,000)

Total amount recognised in Other Comprehensive
Income

(194,000)

(30,000)

Reconciliation of opening and closing balance sheet entries

Net defined benefit (asset)/liability at January 1
Unrecognised gain charged to retained earnings

2014
$

(1,074,000)
-

2013
$
(921,000)
-

Opening defined benefit liability/(asset)
Net Pension cost
Re-measurements recognised in Other Comprehensive
Income
Bank contributions paid

(1,074,000)
67,000

(921,000)
62,000

(194,000)
(181,000)

(30,000)
(185,000)

Net defined benefit asset at December 31

(1,382,000)

(1,074,000)

Summary of principal assumptions as at December 31

Discount rate
NIC earnings increases
Pension increases
Future salary increases

2014
%

2013
%

7
2
0
4

7
2
0
5

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published mortality tables. The life
expectations underlying the value of the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2013 and
2014 are as follows:
Life expectancy at age 60 for current pensioner years
- Male
- Female
Life expectancy at age 60 for current members age 40 in years
Future salary increases
- Male
- Female

21
25

21
25

21
25

21
25
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19 Defined benefit asset (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions used. The
following table summarises how the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2014 would
have changed as a result of a change in assumptions.
1% pa
1% p.a.
decrease
increase
%

- Discount rate
- Future salary increases

491,000
(335,000)

%

516,000
(337,000)

An increase in 1 year in the assumed life expectancies shown above would increase the defined
benefit obligation at December 2014 by $39,000.
These sensitivities were calculated by re-calculating the defined benefit obligations using the revised
assumptions. Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows
expected under the plan, it does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions
shown.
Funding
The Bank meets the balance of the cost of funding the defined benefit pension plan and the Bank
must pay contributions at least equal to those paid by members, which are fixed. The funding
requirements are based on regular (at least every 4 years) actuarial valuations of the Plan and the
assumptions used to determine the funding required may differ from those set out above. The
Bank expects to pay $184,000 to the Pension Plan during 2015.
20 Deferred income tax liability
Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method
using a principal tax rate of 30%.
2014
2013
$
$
At beginning of year
(540,345)
(399,719)
Charge for the year (Note 29)
(129,539)
(140,626)
Deferred income tax liability at end of year

(669,884)

(540,345)

The deferred income tax liability comprises the following temporary differences:
2014
2013
$
$
Accelerated capital allowances
(850,945)
(727,149)
Defined benefit asset
(1,382,000)
(1,074,000)
Deferred tax liability at income tax rate of 30%
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(2,232,945)

(1,801,149)

(669,884)

(540,345)
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21 Share capital
No. of
Shares

2014
$

No. of
Shares

2013
$

4,999,966

7,971,454

4,999,966

7,971,454

Authorized:
5,000,000 ordinary shares of no
par value
At beginning and end of year
22 Reserves
Reserves comprise:

Statutory reserve
Revaluation reserve – Property, plant and equipment
Revaluation reserve – Available for sale securities

2014
$

2013
$

7,971,454
3,727,625
742,680

7,971,454
3,730,905
1,070,890

12,441,759

12,773,249

Statutory reserve
Pursuant to Section 14(1) of the Banking Act of St. Lucia No. 34 of 2006, the Bank shall, out of its
net profits of each year transfer to that reserve a sum equal to not less than twenty percent of such
profits whenever the amount of the fund is less than one hundred percent of the paid-up capital of
the Bank.
Revaluation reserve – Property, plant and equipment
The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of property, plant and equipment above its
previous carrying amount. The Bank transfers a portion of the reserve to retained earnings annually
as the asset is used by the Bank. The value of the transfer is the difference between depreciation
based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset and depreciation based on the asset’s original
cost.
Revaluation reserve – Available for sale securities
The reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available for sale financial
assets until the assets are derecognised or impaired.
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23 Net interest income

Interest and similar income
Loans and advances
Deposits with banks
Investment securities
Interest expense and similar charges
Time deposits
Savings deposits
Demand deposits
Net interest income

2014
$

2013
$

32,037,732
4,993
2,753,607

29,118,701
28,065
3,612,370

34,796,332

32,759,136

5,696,843
8,321,224
36,461

6,024,879
7,680,341
31,497

14,054,528

13,736,717

20,741,804

19,022,419

2014
$

2013
$

24 Other operating income

Commission and other income
Foreign exchange
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Fee income
Dividend income

3,791,217
2,792,960
638,936
145,747

3,951,877
2,949,853
(20,078)
427,507
100,356

7,368,860

7,409,515

2014
$

2013
$

7,120,553
6,958,985
1,568,027
1,193,569
16,841,134
16,841,134

7,171,807
6,812,689
1,502,921
1,118,802
16,606,219
16,606,219

25 Other operating expenses

Administrative expenses (Note 26)
Staff costs (Note 27)
Depreciation (Note 13 and 15)
Operating lease rental
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26 Administrative expenses

Other operating expenses
Card services expense
Bank charges
Advertising
Computer expense
Postage, telephone and telexes
Utilities
Security expenses
Repairs and maintenance
Directors’ fees and expenses
Professional fees
Audit fees
Insurance
Stationery
Bank licence
Rates and taxes
Total administrative expenses
27 Staff costs

Salaries and wages
Other employee benefits
Profit sharing
Social security costs
Pension costs (Note 19)

2014
$

2013
$

785,662
846,290
174,969
712,526
985,137
720,790
671,855
592,105
385,582
278,421
236,391
194,000
183,705
194,167
128,000
30,953

840,614
676,814
290,586
831,085
732,889
737,950
705,362
590,959
520,825
332,356
135,301
194,000
223,479
186,220
136,000
37,367

7,120,553

7,171,807

2014
$

2013
$

5,508,762
1,165,262
217,961
67,000

5,201,647
1,134,004
208,789
206,249
62,000

6,958,985

6,812,689

The average number of employees during the year was 125 (2013 -122).
28 Impairment losses

Impairment losses from loans and advances (Note 11)
Impairment losses on investments (Note 12)

2014
$

2013
$

9,829,275
-

9,351,102
109,083

9,829,275

9,460,185
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29 Income tax expense

Current tax
Deferred tax (Note 20)

2014
$

2013
$

829,237
129,539

443,336
140,626

958,776

583,962

Tax on the Bank’s income before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the statutory tax rate of 30% as follows:

Profit before income tax
Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate of 30%
Tax effect of exempt income
Non-deductible expenses
Tax incentives

2014
$

2013
$

1,440,255

365,530

432,076
(1,488,597)
2,367,552
(352,256)
958,776

109,659
(1,886,110)
2,768,827
(408,414)
583,962

There was no income tax effect relating to components of other comprehensive income.
30 Earnings per share

Per financials
Weighted average no. of shares
Net income/(loss) for the year

2014
$

2013
$

0.10

(0.04)

4,999,966

481,479

4,999,966
(218,432)

Basic and diluted
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the net profit/(loss) attributable
to shareholders of $481,479 (2013 - ($218,432)) divided by the weighted average number of shares
in issue ranking for dividend during the year of 4,999,966 (2013 - 4,999,966).
31 Dividends
No dividends were appropriated from retained earnings for the year ended December 31, 2014
(2013 - $0.40).
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32 Related party transactions
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial
statements (referred to in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting entity”).
A party is related to the company, if:
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that
person:
(i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;
(ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the
reporting entity.
(b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:
(i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same Bank (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).
(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a Bank of which the other entity is a member).
(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity.
(vi) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related
parties, regardless of whether a price is charged.
The volume of related-party transactions, outstanding balances at the year-end and related
expenses and income for the year are as follows:
Loan and advances to Directors and related entities
2014
$

2013
$

Loans outstanding at beginning of year
Net loans issued for the year

5,604,197
2,275,210

5,318,070
286,127

Loans outstanding at end of year

7,879,407

5,604,197

575,209

506,795

Interest income earned
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32 Related party transactions (Cont’d)

Loan and advances to key management personnel
2014
$

2013
$

Loans outstanding at beginning of year
Net loans issued for the year

3,542,565
451,712

1,729,269
1,813,295

Loans outstanding at end of year

3,994,277

3,542,564

225,837

163,940

Interest income earned

The loan and advances to Directors and other key management personnel are secured over
property of the respective borrowers.
No impairment losses have been recorded against balances outstanding during the period with
directors or key management personnel, and no specific allowance has been made for impairment
losses on balances with directors or key management personnel and their immediate relatives at
the reporting date.The loan and advances to Directors and other key management personnel are
secured over property of the respective borrowers.

2014
$

5,810,539
(1,918,347)

3,805,327
2,005,212

3,892,192

5,810,539

116,335

137,728

2014
$

2013
$

Deposits at beginning of year
Net deposits received during the year

662,499
29,418

441,063
221,435

Deposits outstanding at end of year

691,917

662,498

22,044

25,000

Deposits at beginning of year
Net deposits (repaid)/received during the year
Deposits outstanding at end of year
Interest expense on deposits
Deposits from key management personnel

Interest expense on deposits
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32 Related party transactions (Cont’d)

Key management personnel compensation

Salaries and other short-term benefits
Post and other employment benefits

2014
$

2013
$

1,292,371
371,441

1,160,037
264,988

1,663,812

1,425,025

At the end of the financial year, directors’ holding of shares totalled 63,715 shares or 1.27% of
shares outstanding, (2013 - 62,849 or 1.26%)
34 Contingent liabilities and commitments
(a) Loans commitment, guarantee and other financial facilities
At December 31, 2014, the Bank had contractual off-balance sheet financial instruments that
commit it to extend credit to customers, guarantee and other facilities as follows:
2014
2013
$
$
Loan commitments
Guarantees and standby letters of credit

17,790,036
585,501

28,905,897
500,481

18,375,537

29,406,378

35 Operating leases
The Bank leases a number of branch and other office facilities under operating leases. Lease
payments are renegotiated when the previous lease term has expired and typically run for a period
of 5 years. Some leases provide for additional rent payments that are based on changes in local
price indices. At the year end, several operating lease agreements were under negotiation. At
December 31, 2014 the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases were as
follows:-

Within one year
Within two to five years

2014
$
1,070,262
6
3,627,859
4,698,121

2013
$
1,016,166
2,552,343
3,568,509
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